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A NOTE APPRECIATION TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic continues to pose challenges for the Company. The conclusion of the annual
results for 2020 has been delayed, due to the requirement laid down in the Financial Reporting Act to change
auditors. The Company has now managed to conclude these annual financial statements and to deal with the
challenges; I can report that the Company is in a position to bear up for the rest of the current financial year and
deal with its strategic priorities.
We understand that information and trading guidance are essential to our shareholders and we are now in a
position to give both. I would like to thank our shareholders for their patience and understanding in these trying
times.
SUBSEQUENT UPDATES
Given the conditions that we have experienced for some time, this report will focus on the financial position of
the Company at the end of 2020 and on a review of its performance. The prognosis for the Company will be less
important than the provision of detailed trading updates as part of its quarterly updates, which include its
strategic outlook.
2020 IN REVIEW
During 2020, the Board and the Advisor focused for much of the year on refinancing the senior debt and
implementing tenant retention strategies to preserve cash flows, and thus value, by making use of incentives and
re-letting vacant space, often at rentals attractive to tenants. They also extended the expiration dates on leases to
sustain future cash flows.
The value of the Company’s portfolio had declined by 17.75% to USD 104,354,741 by 31 December 2020 (2019:
USD 126.804,232) driven by the impact of the COVID-19 effect which exacerbated the existing situation of
declining rental markets in the portfolio’s various geographies. The biggest impact was felt in Nigeria. This loss
in the value of the properties resulted in a net loss attributable to shareholders of USD 22,419,731 (2019 restated:
USD 17,816,991).
The 2020 operating loss of USD 22,419,731 may be attributed as follows:
USD

ACCRA
MALL

ATLANTIC
CAPITAL
HOUSE PROPERTIES

SOHL

SACREIL

TOTAL

4,480,494

2,049,760

3,819,822

-

-

10,350,076

(2,231,388)

(1,249,111)

(461,372)

-

-

(3,941,871)

800,649
(270,308)

3,358,450
(27,680)

(22,938)

(299,019)

6,408,205

Mauritian operating costs

2,249,106
(53,551)

Change in deferred tax adjustment
Advisory fee

(276,153)
-

-

(1,481,294)
-

-

(1,216,582)

(1,757,447)
(1,216,582)

(1,399,951)

(1,150,869)

(1,152,325)

-

-

(3,703,145)

519,451
(51,840)

(620,528)
(66,478)

697,151
1,198,101

(22,938)
-

(1,515,601)
-

(942,465)

467,611
(7,399,842)
(6,932,231)

(687,006)
(5,481,790)
(6,168,796)

1,895,252
(9,675,417)
(7,780,165)

(22,938)
(22,938)

(1,515,601)
(1,515,601)

Income in-country
Expenses in-country
Net operating income in-country

Net finance costs
Operating income / (loss) before tax
Tax
Total profit / (loss) after tax
Fair value loss on property valuation
Operating loss

(673,496)

1,079,783
137,318
(22,557,049)
(22,419,731)

where SOHL is Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited
This performance resulted in a decline in the net asset value per share to USD 3.4115 as at 31 December 2020
(2019 restated: USD 4.6145 per share).
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Distribution to shareholders
The Company cannot distribute dividend for the 2020 financial year due to failing the solvency test per the
Companies Act, 2001. Therefore, the dividend for 2020 is USD Nil per share (2019: USD Nil).
ECONOMIC BACKDROP1
Tanzania
Due to effects of COVID-19, GDP growth slowed to 2.1% in 2020 (from 6.8% in 2019). Growth was driven mainly
by activity in the construction and manufacturing sectors and by and investment demand. Credit markets have
been supported by an accommodative monetary policy which in turn has underpinned economic growth. In this
regard, the policy rate was reduced from 7% in August 2018 to 5% in May 2020. The government’s fiscal
consolidation has helped to reduce recurrent expenditures, but the adverse effect of COVID–19 on revenues
increased the fiscal deficit slightly from 2.0% of GDP in 2019 to 2.3% of GDP in 2020 while the current account
deficit improved to 3.2% of GDP for 2020 (3.4% in 2019) driven mainly by exports specifically gold. Meanwhile,
inflation in 2019 fell from 3.5% to 3.3%, because of a steady decline in food prices. Energy and fuel price increases,
however, are at present expected to persist, potentially raising the overall rate of inflation to 3.9% for the year
2021. Thanks to Bank of Tanzania interventions exchange rates have remained stable for the period under review.
Generally, then, the economic outlook is positive, with real GDP projected, by the African Development Bank to
grow to 4.1% in 2021. This is predicated on the performance of the tourism sector and the reopening of trade
corridors. Constraints to private sector activity from business regulatory bottlenecks are among the major
downside risks to this positive outlook, not to mention the uncertainties arising from the pandemic.
Ghana
The COVID–19 pandemic significantly slowed the momentum in Ghana’s economic progress with GDP growth
estimated at 1.7% in 2020 (6.5% in 2019 in 2020) caused by lower oil prices and weakened global economic activity
during the period. Nonetheless, some growth will be sustained by improving gold and cocoa prices and what
appears to be the beginnings of a recovery within the construction and manufacturing sectors. The shortfall in
revenue from weak economic activity and unanticipated increased health expenditure is expected to widen the
fiscal deficit to 10.5% of GDP in 2020 (from 4.8% in 2019). A reduced demand for imports is expected to cause a
narrowing of the current account to 2.5% of GDP in 2020 (2.8% in 2019). Inflation in 2020 will probably rise to
10% (8.7% in 2019) due to pandemic-related interruptions in supply chains and an expansionary monetary policy
aimed at mitigating the economic impacts of COVID–19. Still, inflation is expected to ease to 8.2% in 2021. The
Ghana cedi depreciated by 3.1% in 2020 as compared with a 10% in 2019.
So long as the demand for Ghana’s exports increases, business confidence improves, and the Ghana COVID–19
Alleviation and Revitalization of Enterprise Support programme is successfully implemented, its economic
outlook is good in the short to medium term. Downside risks to this outlook can be traced to a further wave in
the spread of the virus and heightened fiscal and debt pressure.
Nigeria
Although mitigating measures in the Economic Sustainability Programme (ESP) prevented a decline in GDP from
being much worse, GDP growth is estimated by the African Development Bank to have shrunk to 3% in 2020
(from 2.2% in 2019). The containment measures negatively impacting the aviation, tourism, hospitality,
restaurants, manufacturing, and trade sectors. This was to some extent offset by demand-driven expansion in the
financial and information and communications technology sectors. The Central Bank of Nigeria did cut the policy
rate by 100 basis points to 11.5% to help shore up the contracting economy. The fiscal deficit, rose to 5.2% of GDP
in 2020 (4.3% in 2019) resultant from pandemic-related spending pressures and revenue shortfalls while the
current account is expected to remain in deficit, at 3.7% of GDP, resultant from reduced oil receipts and weak
external financial flows. Higher food prices caused by a negative exchange rate premium, the removal of fuel
subsidies, and an increase in electricity tariffs caused inflation to increase to 12.8% in 2020 (11.4% in 2019).

1 Source: Africa Economic Outlook 2021, African Development Bank as at December 2020; IMF 2020 Article IV Consultation—
Press Release; Staff Report; and Statement by the Alternate Executive Director for Nigeria, (February 2021); IMF 2021 Article
IV Consultation—Press Release; Staff Report; and Statement by the Executive Director for Ghana (July 2021).
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The economy is projected to grow by 1.5% in 2021, on the basis of an expected recovery in oil production and
more favourable oil prices together with the reopening of borders that will improve access to inputs and reducing
domestic prices pressures and inflation. If the oil prices remain depressed, the downside risks will include
reduced fiscal headroom, which may be exacerbated by flooding and rising insecurity that could hamper
agricultural production.
MARKET CONTEXT
Ghana: Retail2
Investment in the development of modern shopping centres in Ghana has increased over the past decade due to
economic growth, a growing middle class population, low market penetration and changing tastes – the current
stock of modern shopping centres is approximately 120,000 square meters. The informal retail sector comprising
corner shops, convenience stores and open markets still have the largest share of retail sales volume. However,
changing tastes born out of greater exposure to technology and social media, as well as increased disposable
income in the last few years have progressively changed consumer behaviour, thereby increasing the demand for
formal retail space. Investors have remained focused largely on the prime market of Accra, the country’s capital
city; and in the last two years have started breaking into the secondary markets of Kumasi and Takoradi, in
response to the major retailers’ expansion plans in Ghana.
The retail sector in Accra, is seen a relatively advanced, with several international brands and established retailers
mainly from South Africa such as Shoprite, Pick n Pay, and Mr Price. These retailers act as anchors drawing in
other tenants to the retail centres that they are in. Accra’s catchment area for formal retail centres is relatively
small, and the retail stock is fairly new, mainly comprised of medium to large sized malls across the capital,
catering to the middle and upper classes. In the current economic climate and with the effects of COVID-19, the
retail sector is tenant driven with landlords looking to retain their tenants by offering various incentives such as
accepting quarterly or monthly rental payments instead of upfront annual payments.
It is estimated that approximately 46,750 square meters of new retail space will come onto the market within the
next 36 months. This will likely prolong the tenant driven market for some time. Rentals are expected to come
under pressure, with marginal increments resulting from previously agreed escalations. The slowdown in
demand for space in new malls is expected to continue until economic growth stabilises and turnover improves.
Landlords are likely to continue with their tenant retention strategies. However, not all retail categories appear
to be struggling and therefore landlords’ approaches may vary by tenant category. Prime annual retail rent in
Accra ranges between USD 600-780 per square metre and a vacancy rate of approximately 25%. The sector’s long
term future, like that of the overall economy, remains positive as a result of the anticipated improvement in
economic indicators.
Nigeria: Offices2
Nigeria’s total formal office stock is estimated at 1.4 million square meters, with a large share of space
concentrated in Lagos, Nigeria’s largest city. After the country’s administrative capital was moved from Lagos to
Abuja in 1991, Lagos has maintained its position as the financial centre of the country, and its office tenant mix is
predominantly private sector corporates, while Abuja is home to primarily government and parastatal
organizations. In response to recent slowed down economic growth, there have been smaller office developments
being undertaken and some of the pipeline stock has been driven by mix-use schemes and residential
conversions. Typical annual headline asking rentals range from USD720-USD960 per square meter, while yields
between 8.5%-9.5% have been achieved. Market rent corrections have also been observed with renewed leases
being re-negotiated in the region of USD600 per square meter per annum. Vacancy rates in some B-grade
buildings have increased due to corporate occupiers relocating from these older buildings to newer, higher
quality spaces. Overall, office vacancy rates stand at 40%-50%, though are likely to stabilize as the frequency of
new stock coming onto the market slows.

Sources: JLL West Africa Country Snapshots: Macro-Economic & Real Estate Overview 2020-2021; Broll Internal Research
2020

2
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New developments nearing completion and expected to be delivered in the next 12 months total approximately
27,000 square metres. Other projects under construction, with 2- to 3-year delivery timelines, total approximately
82,000 square metres. Projects that have been put on hold total approximately 64,000 square metres, with some
landlords looking at a pre-let of about 50% before proceeding with construction. However, given the current
vacancy rate of A-grade buildings in the market, the probability of attaining this pre-let goal may be low. Most
landlords in the market still perceive the market to be a tenant’s market and continue to offer competitive leasing
terms to prospective tenants on a case-by-case basis, especially with the anticipated increased market supply of
new stock. With the outlook for the economy mixed, many landlords are sitting on the fence or cautiously
optimistic about the performance of the real estate market in 2020 and therefore do not foresee any real chance of
rental growth for some time.
Tanzania: Offices3
Tanzania’s formal office sector is concentrated in Dar es Salaam and Dodoma (capital city). The former remains
the economic and corporate hub of Tanzania, while Dodoma is home primarily to government and parastatal
institutions. Although Dar es Salaam suffers from over-congestion and outdated buildings, it has retained its
appeal to businesses and investors.
With the growing demand for offices in Dar, developers saw an opportunity to invest in this sector causing a
major supply-demand mismatch ever since 2016 and, with the slow-down in the economy, forced headline rentals
down across the sector. The prime office market was further negatively impacted by government offices
relocating from Dar to Dodoma in 2018, which created a decline in overall occupancy levels. Most of the
multinationals took space in the extended business districts like Kinondoni, Masaki and Oyster Bay, due to the
improved stock quality, limited congestion, proximity to their residences and other socio-economic amenities.
Simultaneous building completions bringing new stock to the market have put further pressure on rentals; the
office market continues to experience a low absorption rate and most of the recently completed buildings have
remained vacant for the second half of 2020. At the same time, vacancy rates in older buildings have also
continued to be increasing as tenants continue to ask for smaller offices and, in some cases, to vacate premises
that they could not afford to occupy. In addition, the impact of COVID-19 on the economy has forced rental rates
downwards in most buildings and the market has experienced numerous requests from tenants for rental
reductions/concessions, deferred payments or rental moratoriums. The retention of tenants has become the main
focus in today’s tenant’s market. There is approximately 320,000 square metres of quality office space available
in Dar, with approximately 100,000 square metres of pipeline stock expected to come onto the market over the
next few years. The highest rentals are typically achieved in the Central Business District of Dar es Salaam, and
in commercial nodes north of the city such as Msasani Peninsula and Ali Hassan Mwinyi Road. Annual asking
rentals in these locations range between USD 155-USD240 per square metre, while yields average between 8.5%9%; vacancy rates are up to 40%.
PORTFOLIO UPDATE
Accra Mall, Accra
Accra Mall continues to be one of the West African retail destinations catering largely to the upper income group
in Accra. The mall has consistently had low vacancy, and its current rate of occupancy is just over 90%. The
impact of COVID-19 continues to be felt in the mall, however, evidenced by the limited growth in year on year
footfall and the turnover of anchor tenants. Concessions ranging from a full month rent-free to 15-50% in
concessions over an agreed period in 2020 have been capped. There is an emphasis on cost management, a
continuous marketing programme and a mall relaunch strategy. Internal research by Broll (the mall’s property
manager) based on its own data base and information gleaned from retail agents active in Accra indicates that
current letting rates and market rentals have remained stagnant for the last 12 months and still seem to average
between USD 240–600 per square metre per annum (net) in most malls. But Accra Mall is an exception, with line
shops renting at up to USD 1,120 per square metre per annum.

Sources: JLL East Africa Country Snapshots: Macro-Economic & Real Estate Overview 2020-2021; Broll Internal Research
2020; Knight Frank Tanzania Internal Research 2020
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Atlantic House, Victoria Island, Lagos
Atlantic House is located in Victoria Island, Lagos. Victoria Island and neighbouring Ikoyi are the city’s two
prime office nodes. However, the significant new supply of quality A-grade assets coming to market has
effectively demoted historical A grade assets, such as Atlantic House, to B grade. Nonetheless, an address in
Atlantic House remains a preferred location for users of commercial office space. The corporate offices of several
financial service companies, oil & gas firms, foreign missions, embassies and multinationals are all to be found in
the neighbourhood. The rental market in Victoria Island for prime grade office buildings has lately become more
of a tenant market where more recent transactions feature rent concessions and rent-free periods due to the effects
of COVID-19 on the economy, and to companies reducing the amount of space they occupy. As the economy
grapples with a slowdown in market activity, it appears that occupiers, more particularly indigenous occupiers,
are looking to take advantage of what is perceived as a down market. The increased number of enquiries for
property culminated in a new letting of 400 square metres in June 2021, raising the occupancy level from c. 72%
in 2020 to c. 81%.
Capital Properties, Dar es Salaam
In spite of the negative impact of Government offices relocating from Dar-es-salaam to Dodoma, leaving much
office space unoccupied and lowering rentals, Capital Place, in the Central Business District, has managed to
maintain an above average rate of occupancy of c. 85% in the prevailing market conditions, whereas most of the
buildings record an occupancy rate of between 50% and 70% and the market continues to drop. The contributing
factors are, amongst others, that the property is well positioned along a major street with good exposure and
access, it has good parking ratios, the buildings continue to be maintained and the management responded
promptly and wisely to the onset of COVID-19 by taking immediate precautions. Capital Place has secured the
following rents: Absa House rentals range from USD 168 to USD 252 per square metre per annum; Amani Place
rentals range between USD 144 and USD 228 per square metre per annum; and FNB House rentals range between
USD 156 and USD 228 per square metre per annum. In comparison, other properties nearby are earning annual
rates between USD 72 and USD144 per square metre per annum in the present market.
STRATEGIC OUTLOOK
The Advisor has strengthened its board and team through the appointment of Operating Partners. In this regard, a
subcommittee of the Advisor’s board has been formed, on which three Operating Partners sit alongside three
executives from Sanlam Investments. The Operating Partners who have joined the SAREA team are experienced
professionals led by Kofi Adjepong-Boateng, a former Vice Chairman at Standard Chartered Bank Group.
By introducing these changes, the Advisor has secured the help of a team that has had success in the past in the
areas of fund formation, capital raising and investor and shareholder engagement in relation to African funds,
investment companies and businesses.
In addition to its ongoing daily management responsibilities to the Company, the Advisor is working with an
external group of professional service firms to evaluate the strategic options open to the Company. As part of its
work on corporate strategy, the Advisor is preparing a strategic plan for the Company which will be presented
to the Company’s board in the next few months along with the Advisor’s recommendations. The strategic plan
will cover both the options open to the Company to recapitalise and expand its operations and the options to
fund through asset sales the constitutional share repurchase from Class A shareholders of those shares that they
may elect to sell.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
During the year under review no new directors were appointed. Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 April 2021 following the resignation of Mr. Keith Robert
Jefferis as director and chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee with effect from 31 December 2020.
In compliance with the Mauritius Code of Corporate Governance, the Corporate Governance Report has been
included in the financial statements. Please refer to these for additional disclosures.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
I thank the Advisor, the Administrator, the Board, the Audit and Risk Management Committee members for their
dedication, hard work and continued support for the Company over 2020, and I look forward to working with
them all for the remainder of 2021.

Anil Currimjee
Chairman of the Board
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The directors present their commentary and the audited financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate
Investments Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in commercial real estate in selected countries in SubSaharan Africa. These investments are normally held indirectly through holding(s) in companies holding the
underlying real estate assets.
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Company’s operating loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to USD 22,419,731 (2019: operating
loss of USD 17,816,991).
No interim nor final dividend was declared for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: USD Nil)
DIRECTORS
The directors in office during the year are as stated on Page 2.
DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements,
comprising the Company’s statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders and the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in
compliance with the Companies Act 2001 and the National Code of Corporate Governance.
The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.
The directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason
to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
AUDITOR
The auditor, KPMG, has been appointed during the year under review, and has indicated its willingness to continue
in office and a resolution concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the next Annual Meeting of the
Shareholders in accordance with Section 200 of the Companies Act 2001.
DONATIONS
The Company and its subsidiaries did not make any donations in the year under review (2019: nil).
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS
The Directors do not hold any interest in the ordinary share capital of the Company (2019: nil).
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION & BENEFITS
Name of Director
Jacobus Petrus Moller

2020 (USD)

2019 (USD)

-

24,000

Anil Carrim Currimjee

20,000

20,000

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula

16,000

4,755

Keith Robert Jefferis

28,000

31,000

Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe

16,000

16,000

Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa

24,000

26,000

104,000

121,755

TOTAL

AUDIT FEES
Auditors’ remuneration for the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December:
Audit Fees paid to KPMG (External
auditors)
SACREIL

Audit Fees paid to EY (External
auditors)

USD
2020

2019

41,000

-

USD
2020

2019

-

20,100

Amani Place Properties Limited

5,500

4,950

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited

4,700

4,650

Lousol Properties Mauritius

5,300

4,750

SACREIL
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act 2004)
Name of Entity: SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Reporting Period: 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020
We, the Directors of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited, confirm that to the best of our
knowledge, Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited has complied with all of its obligations and
requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance.

Dated this 13 August 2021

_________________________
Anil Carrim Currimjee
Chairperson of Board

___________________________
Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong
Member of Board
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REVIEW
The Board of Directors of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the “Company”/“SACREIL”) (the
“Board”) endorses the utmost standards of business integrity and professionalism to ensure that the activities within
the Company are managed ethically and sustainably to enhance business value for all stakeholders. The Board
adheres to the code of corporate practices and conduct as set out in the National Code of Corporate Governance for
Mauritius 2016 (the “Code”).
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
SACREIL is a Category 1 Global Business Company listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (“SEM”) since
2013.
The Board is ultimately accountable and responsible for leading and controlling the Company and it assumes
responsibility for the performance and affairs of the Company. In addition, the Board ensures that the Company
complies with all legal and regulatory requirements in Mauritius and that the Directors are aware of their legal
duties.
Board Charter
The Board has adopted a charter which regulates the roles, functions, obligations, rights, responsibilities and powers
of the Board (the “Charter”). The Board annually reviews its Charter and updates it as needed to adjust to new
business needs and any changes in regulatory requirements.
The Charter also provides for succession planning, appointment of directors, induction of new directors and need
for professional development. The roles of the Chairperson and Company Secretary are defined in the Board
Charter.
The Chairperson has the responsibility to ensure that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information
and that there is a good information flow between the Board and its Committees, and between non-executive
Directors.
Board members are restricted from disclosing any information of a confidential nature regarding the business of the
organisation and/or any companies in which it holds a stake, that came to his or her knowledge in the capacity of
his or her work for the organisation and which he/she knows or should know to be of a confidential nature during
his or her membership on the Board or afterwards. At the end of each Board member’s term of office, he/she is
required to return all confidential documents in his or her possession to the organisation or guarantee their disposal
in a manner that ensures confidentiality is preserved.
Code of Ethics
The Board has adopted a code of ethics which provides guidance to Directors and help them recognise and deal
with ethical issues and help foster a culture of honesty and accountability and mechanisms to report unethical
conduct. This code of ethics is reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit and Risk Management Committee (the
“ARMC”) and recommended for Board approval.
Organisational Structure
SACREIL does not have any employees and its affairs are managed by its Board of Directors. SACREIL has
appointed third party service providers to assist with its affairs.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

15.

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited (“SAREA”) provides advisory services to the Company and
its scope of services is set out in the Advisory Agreement entered between SAREA and the Company. SAREA is
paid an advisory fee every quarter, which is a set percentage of SACREIL’s average Gross Asset Value.
SACREIL has appointed Intercontinental Trust Limited (“ITL”/“Administrator”) to provide Administration
Services in terms of an Administration Agreement. ITL earns agreed-upon fees for providing these services.
Organisational Chart
The Organisational chart of the Company is set out below:

Intercontinental
Trust Limited

50%
Accra Mall
(Mauritius) Limited
94%

Accra Mall Ltd

Administrator

Advisor

Sanlam Africa Core Real
Estate Investments

Limited

100%
Amani Place
Properties Limited

Capital Properties
Ltd

100%

100%
Sacreil Oddlot
Holdings Limited

100% less
1 share

Sanlam Africa Real
Estate Advisor
Proprietary Limited

Lousol Properties
Mauritius
99.99%

0.01%
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STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
Board composition
The Board has a unitary structure which comprises three independent non-executive Directors and three nonexecutive Directors. The determination of whether a Director is independent or not, and non-executive or not, is
based on the criteria set out in the Code. Upon the instructions of the Board, the administration of the Company is
carried out by the Advisor and the Administrator. Hence, the Company does not have a Chief Executive Officer or
an executive director. If the circumstances or the business model of the Company change, consideration will be
given to the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer.
In a step towards ensuring board diversity including gender diversity, Mrs. Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula was
appointed as a non-executive director on 28 August 2019.
Mr. Keith Robert Jefferis had tendered his resignation as non-executive director and Chairman of the ARMC with
effect from 31 December 2020.
Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea has been appointed as an independent non-executive director effective from 20 April 2021.
Given the geographical spread of the markets, the size and activity of the Company, the Board is of the view that it
is well balanced and of sufficient size to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.
Short profiles of the Directors of the Company are as follows:
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Anil Currimjee
BA Liberal Arts, MBA (London Business School)
Anil is the Managing Director of Currimjee Jeewanjee & Co Ltd, the flagship company of the Currimjee Group.
Currimjee Jeewanjee & Co Ltd has operations and investments in both Mauritius and India. The Currimjee Group
was established in 1890 with diversified activities in the following clusters: Telecoms, Media and IT, Real Estate,
Tourism and Hospitality, Energy, Commerce and Financial Services, Food and Beverages, Home and Personal Care.
Anil has occupied the post of the Former President of the Mauritius Chamber of Commerce & Industry; Former
Director of The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd; Honorary Consul General of Japan in Mauritius until January
2017; Chairman of Joint Business Council Mauritius-India, since 2004; and Director of numerous companies within
the Currimjee Group.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: 2
Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong
BSc (Hons), FCA
Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong (“Cyril”) is a non-executive director of a number of listed and non-listed companies.
Cyril was a senior executive at Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited between 2004 and 2014. Before joining Barclays,
Cyril was Head of Finance in Esso Mauritius Limited and British American Tobacco (Mauritius).
Cyril graduated with First Class Honours in Physics from the University of Manchester and qualified as a
Chartered Accountant with KPMG in London. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a Fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: 2
Keith Robert Jefferis
PhD (Economics)
Keith is development macroeconomist and financial sector specialist. He is the Managing Director of Econsult
Botswana (Pty) Ltd and is a former Deputy Governor of the Bank of Botswana. His current activities include work
on a range of macroeconomic, financial sector and other development policy issues in Botswana and elsewhere
in sub-Saharan Africa, for governments, international organisations, and the private sector. He has served on the
Committee of the Botswana Stock Exchange and currently serves on the boards of various financial and nonfinancial entities in Botswana, Mauritius and Nigeria.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: None
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe
BCom (Cum Laude), BCom (Hons), MCom Tax, M.Phil Finance (Cambridge), CA (SA)
After completing his BCom (Hons) degree in 1987, from University of Pretoria, Johan started working at Deloitte &
Touche and lecturing part-time in Accounting and Auditing. The following year he passed the qualifying Public
Accountants & Auditors Board examination. Upon completion of his MCom (Tax) at the university in 1990, he
proceeded to attain his MPhil Finance at Cambridge in 1991.
In 1991 he moved to Gencor, where he was one of the core team members who finalised the Billiton transaction. He
joined Investec Asset Management in 1997 as Sector Head of SA Resources, became head of Equities in 1999, was
promoted to Global Sector Head of Resources in April 2000, and served as director and executive committee
member. He joined Sanlam Investment Management in July 2002 as CEO. May 2003 saw his appointment as CEO
of the Investment Cluster responsible for all the Investment businesses in the Sanlam group.
As from January 2016, Johan retains only certain non-executive directorships within the Sanlam Group. He is CoCEO of African Rainbow Capital (Pty) Ltd and serves as director on the Boards of various other listed and unlisted
companies.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: 2
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Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
BSc (Hons), MSc, FCA, TEP
Yan is an executive director of Intercontinental Trust Limited. He specialises in the structuring and administration
of investment funds and listed companies. He is a board member of a number of funds and listed companies in
Mauritius. He trained as a Chartered Accountant in London and was previously with Baker Tilly Mauritius and
Deloitte in Luxembourg.
He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and of the Society of Trust
and Estate Practitioners. He is currently the treasurer of the Association of Trust and Management Companies in
Mauritius.
Yan graduated from the University of Mauritius (BSc (Hons)) with a degree in Management and achieved a
Masters in Finance (MSc) from Lancaster University.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: 1 (Permanent Alternate Director)
Lusanda Jakavula
BCom, CA (SA)
Lusanda is the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of SAREA, the Advisor.
From February 2004, Lusanda was employed within the Sanlam Group in various roles from Credit Analyst, Debt
Structuring and then Sanlam Private Equity Associate until she left in 2012. From August 2012, she joined Zungu
Investments Company as Group Finance Director until 2018. In this role, she was responsible for the full finance and
operational functions, as well as managing portfolio investments, including serving on the Boards and Board
Committees of various companies within the Zungu Group. In October 2018, she returned to Sanlam as the Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director of SAREA, the Advisor. She was appointed as director in SACREIL on 28
August 2019 and serves as director on the Boards of various unlisted companies within the SACREIL group.
Lusanda is a qualified Chartered Accountant. She holds a BCom degree and a Post-Graduate Diploma in Accounting,
both from the University of Cape Town.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: None
Rajkamal Taposeea
LLB, Barrister-at-Law (Inner Temple), LLM
Kamal has over 30 years professional experience extending to diverse sectors, which include Law, Financial Services,
Financial Regulations, Media and Airlines & Tourism. He currently holds non-executive directorships in financial
services companies and global funds, as well as in various industry sectors.
Previously Kamal has been a member of the Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of Mauritius, non-executive
Chairman of Air Mauritius, General Manager (Investment Banking Group) of Al Rajhi Bank in Saudi Arabia,
Regional Managing Director at Standard Bank (Mauritius) Limited, Managing Director at Barclays Bank PLC
Mauritius and Commercial Director of Cedel Bank. Kamal has started his banking career with JP Morgan in 1985.
Number of directorships in other listed companies: 2
For confidentiality purposes, details of all the directorships held by the Directors have not been made public.
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The Board and its Committees
NAME

GENDE
R

BOARD APPOINTMENT

ARMC
MEMBER

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE
(“IC”) MEMBER

Anil Carrim Currimjee
Mauritian
(Chairperson of Board and
appointed as director on
29/01/13)
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Mauritian
(Appointed as director on
09/05/12)
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
South African
(Appointed as director on
28/08/19)
Keith Robert Jefferis
Botswanan
(Chairperson of ARMC and
resigned as director on
31/12/20)
Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van
Der Merwe
South African
(Appointed as director on
29/01/13)
Cyril Wong Sun Thiong
Mauritian
(Appointed as director on
09/09/16)
Rajkamal Taposeea
Mauritian
(Appointed as director on
20/04/21)
Jacobus Petrus Möller
South African (Resigned on
09/02/2020)

M

Independent Non-Executive Director

-

-

M

Non-executive Director

✓

-

F

Non-executive Director

-

-

M

Independent Non-Executive Director

✓

✓

M

Non-executive Director

-

-

M

Non-executive Director

✓

✓

M

Independent Non-Executive Director

✓

-

M

Non-executive Director

✓

✓

Role of the Chairperson
The Chairperson of the Board is an independent non-executive Director. The role and function of the Chairperson
is to engage with the Directors and service providers on all material matters affecting the Company and the Board,
to preside over meetings of Directors and ensure that sufficient time is spent on the key issues faced by the
Company.
Role of the Non-executive and Independent Directors
Non-executive and independent Directors play a vital role in providing independent judgement in all
circumstances. All directors are bound by fiduciary duties and duties of care and skill.
Board Committees
The Board has the responsibility to establish committees to support the efficient and effective organisation of its
duties. It has hence set up two permanent Committees, namely an Audit and Risk Management Committee and
an Investment Committee (the “Committees”). The Board has delegated certain roles and responsibilities to these
Committees as defined in their respective Terms of Reference. These Committees report to the Board on matters
discussed and make recommendations to Board on this basis.
The ultimate responsibility and accountability for the performance and affairs of the Company nevertheless
remains with the Board.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee
The ARMC was established on 27 June 2013 to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The safeguarding of the Company’s assets;
The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls;
The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;
The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the external auditors of the Company;
The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements;
An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the
Company’s Advisor; and
An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and investee
companies.

The Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director. The Committee
meets at least quarterly and held four meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. The Committee’s
responsibilities and duties are governed by its terms of reference that is reviewed annually. The Committee provides
feedback to the Board following all meetings.
Investment Committee
The Investment Committee considers and agrees to every investment or disposal to be made by the Company. The
Company’s investment charter which sets out investment guidelines is reviewed and updated as needed to adjust
to new business needs and any changes in regulatory requirements.
The current members of the IC are Mr. Cyril Wong Sun Thiong and three further members appointed in terms of
the provision of the Company’s constitution, which allows for large investors to appoint a member to the IC. Given
the low frequency for holding an IC meeting, the Company will ensure that it is properly constituted before
convening one.
Directors Attendance
BOARD

ARMC

Anil Carrim Currimjee

4/4

-

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin

4/4

4/4

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula

4/4

-

Keith Robert Jefferis

4/4

4/4

Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der
Merwe

4/4

-

Cyril Wong Sun Thiong

4/4

4/4

DIRECTOR

Given that the Company has not undertaken any new investment or considered any disposal during the year
under review, no Investment Committee meeting was held.
The Directors are able to allocate sufficient time and focus to the Company’s affairs in order to discharge their
responsibilities effectively.
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Company Secretary
ITL acts as the Company Secretary and Administrator of SACREIL and performs secretarial duties for the Board,
the ARMC and the IC.
ITL, a suitably qualified, competent and experienced Company Secretary, has been appointed and appropriately
empowered to fulfil duties and provide assistance to the Board. The Company Secretary assists the Board as a whole
and Directors individually by providing detailed guidance as to how their responsibilities should be discharged in
the best interests of the Company. The Company Secretary also provides a central source of guidance and advice to
the Board and the Company, on matters of ethics and good governance and assists with the appointment of
Directors to the Board.
Given the appointment of an external service provider, the Board confirms that the relationship between the Board
and the Company Secretary remains at arm’s length.
DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES
Directors’ selection
The Board reviews its structure, size and composition and decides on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession plans for Directors whilst assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors. Board members are selected to achieve a mix of skills and knowledge appropriate to the Company’s
business.
Appointments of new Directors during the financial year, if any, are approved by the Board. Directors appointed
by the Board resign at the next Annual Meeting and submit themselves for re-election by the shareholders.
Shareholders are therefore ultimately responsible for electing or removing Directors who are elected or re-elected
annually at the Annual Meeting as the case may be.
Succession Planning
The Board assumes the responsibilities for succession planning and for the appointment and induction of new
directors to the Board.
Induction
During the year under review, there were no new directors appointed. Mr. Rajkamal Taposeea was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 April 2021 following the resignation of Mr. Keith
Robert Jefferis as director. He was provided with an induction pack to familiarise himself with the organisation’s
strategy, business activities, general financial and legal affairs, and his responsibilities as a director of the
Company.
DIRECTOR DUTIES, SENIOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE
Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction of the Company. It sets the values to which the Company
adheres and has formulated a Code of Ethics which is applied throughout the Company, as provided below.
Although certain responsibilities are delegated to committees, the Board acknowledges that it is not discharged
from its obligations. In particular, the Board acknowledges its responsibilities in the following areas:
•
•
•
•

The adoption of strategic plans and ensuring that these plans are implemented;
Monitoring of the operational performance of the business against predetermined budgets;
Monitoring the performance of management at both operational and executive levels; and
Ensuring that the Company complies with all laws, regulations and codes of business practice.

The Board meets at least four times a year, with additional meetings convened when circumstances necessitate.
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Remuneration
Given the business model of the Company as described in the Company profile, SACREIL does not have any
employees and hence does not have a Remuneration Committee. The fees paid to each Director for the year under
review are as follows:
RETAINER
FEES

BOARD
MEETING

ARMC

EXPENSES

DIRECTORS

USD

USD

USD

USD

Anil Carrim Currimjee

12,000

8,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe

8,000

8,000

-

-

Keith Robert Jefferis

8,000

8,000

12,000

-

Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong

8,000

8,000

8,000

-

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula2

8,000

8,000

8,000

-

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin1

1Yan

Chong Ng Cheng Hin’s remuneration is incorporated into the fees paid by the Company to ITL, SACREIL’s
Administrator and Company Secretary.
2Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula’s remuneration is incorporated into the fees paid by the Company to SAREA, the
Advisor.
Refer to Note 12 of the financial statements.
The Company does not have any long-term incentive plan for Directors and the Directors have not received any
remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses associated with organisational performance.
Directors’ interests
A register of Directors’ interests is maintained by the Company Secretary and Directors confirm that the list is correct
at each quarterly Board meeting. The register is available for consultation by shareholders upon written request to
the Company Secretary.
The Company has a Conflict of Interest policy which sets out the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of potential
and perceived conflicts of interest. Primarily, directors are expected to avoid conflicts of interest and, where this is
not possible, Directors have a responsibility to disclose any areas of (potential) conflict of interest to the Company,
following which the Company, through the ARMC, will make a recommendation of the required remedial action.
Related party transactions
The Company has not entered into transactions with any of its directors, other than contracts for directorship
services which are at arm’s length and based on market rates. The Company has not entered into transactions with
the Advisor, SAREA, nor the Administrator, ITL, other than those specifically provided for in the Advisory and
Administration Agreements, respectively. There is no other management agreement between the Company and
any third party which was signed during the year under review.
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Dealing in the shares of the Company
No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the period under review. Should a director wish to deal
in the shares of the Company, such director would follow the relevant principles and rules set out in the Stock
Exchange of Mauritius listing rules.
Evaluation
The Board conducted an evaluation of its effectiveness and that of its Committees and its individual Directors
through the circulation of a questionnaire in 2020. The outcome of this evaluation was deemed satisfactory by the
Board. For the year under review, the evaluation process confirmed that a majority of Directors consider the
Board to be effective and well-balanced.
Information Policy
The Board is ultimately responsible for information and technology (“IT”) governance. The right of access to
information is governed by the relevant legal and regulatory framework in Mauritius including the Data Protection
Act 2017. The Board relies on the Advisor and Administrator of the Company for IT governance which have the
necessary security and information governance systems. The Board did not identify the need for any additional
investment on IT governance as the current system was deemed effective for the business of the Company.
RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Key Risk Factors and Risk Management
The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. The Board, assisted
by the ARMC, has the responsibility for the governance of risk and for determining the nature and extent of the
principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. Risk is inherent in the Company’s activities,
but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring of risks, subject to risk
limits and other internal controls. The process of risk management is critical for the Company’s profitability.
Risk management and internal control structure
The ARMC assists the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities as outlined in the ARMC’s terms of
reference. It helps the Board in forming an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.
The ARMC is responsible for monitoring the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and compliance with
ethical, professional and regulatory requirements; and for maintaining control over the provision of non-audit
services. The external auditors are prohibited from providing non-audit services which might compromise their
independence by requiring them to subsequently audit their own work. Any other non-audit services provided
by the external auditors are required to be specifically approved by the Board. Audit fees are set in a manner that
enables an effective external audit. Auditors should ensure that they observe the highest standards of business
and professional ethics and, in particular, that their independence is not impaired in any manner.
During the year under review, the ARMC has met with the external auditor without the presence of the Advisor.
The ARMC is responsible for ensuring that the system of controls in place is sufficient and appropriate in order
to enable the Company to identify and manage any risks for the Company. The ARMC reviews reports from
SAREA on the effectiveness of financial controls. It holistically considers information brought to its attention from
all sources and reports to the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls on an annual
basis. The ARMC has monitored and evaluated the Company’s strategic, financial, operational and compliance
risk for the year under review.
The ARMC further makes annual recommendations to the Board on the effectiveness of internal control by:
• Discussing the process followed to review the internal control systems;
• Reviewing information on significant internal control breakdowns provided; and
• Consider the effectiveness of the risk management processes of the Company.
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The Board is satisfied with the ARMC’s review of the Company’s internal controls and risk management policies
and systems in place. The Board recognises that the internal control system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risks that have been identified and can thus only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against misstatement or loss. During the year under review, the Board has not identified any deficiency or risk in
the Company’s system of internal controls.
Risk measurement and reporting system
The ARMC will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying reports
to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding the Company’s
results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval by, the Board of
Directors. The external auditors provide independent assurance on the annual financial statements.
The following are the key risk factors that have been identified as currently relating to the SACREIL business:
RISK CATEGORY

RISK EXPLANATION

RISK MITIGATION
When acquiring an asset a thorough legal
due diligence is conducted.

Ownership Risk

The risk that SACREIL cannot obtain full
title, or no longer has title to an investment
property (e.g. lease of land expires
without renewal, changes in law, land
claims).

Structural Risk

The risk that the investment property
structure is no longer suitable for leasing.
This may be due to reasons including
structural defects, terrorist attacks, fire;
natural disasters, changes in law.

When acquiring an asset a thorough
structural due diligence is conducted.
Assets are adequately insured and
monitored constantly.

Income Risk

The risk of not being able to maintain the
level of net income associated with the
building, typically due to increased costs
or vacancies.
In-country tenant ability to afford rentals
due to depreciation of the local currency.

Long-term leases are entered into as far as
possible.
Property manager fees are usually a
percentage of income collected.
Costs are controlled and measured against
an approved budget.

Taxation Risk

The risk of existing tax laws being
changed, new tax laws being introduced,
changes in the interpretation of existing
laws.

Ongoing tax advice is obtained from
appropriate tax experts in respect of the
regions in which SACREIL has invested.

Currency Risk

SACREIL has invested in assets that earn
various currencies (USD, Cedi, Naira,
Tanzanian Shillings), leading to the
exposure of parts of the portfolio to the
change in the value of a specific currency in
relation to the USD (the calculation
currency in which the Company’s
performance is measured) and illiquidity in
the forex markets of certain countries.

Income is generally indexed to USD and
debt funding has been obtained in USD.
This risk is managed by converting cash at
bank to USD periodically. Excess cash is
then applied to service its debt and
provide a return to its shareholders.

The risk that finance will be more expensive
than envisaged or that there is an inability
to obtain finance.
Breach of loan covenants due to the
underlying properties performance.

SACREIL has established relationships
with various banks and financial
institutions.
Loan covenants are monitored
continuously.
Long-term facilities have been negotiated
where deemed appropriate.

Financing /
Refinancing Risk

The impact of changes in legislation are
actively identified and address with the
group’s attorneys on an ongoing basis.
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RISK EXPLANATION

RISK MITIGATION

Sovereign Risk

Country specific risk including a
government’s policies and practices
restricting the ability of borrowers and
investors in that country to meet their
obligations thus affecting the ability of
SACREIL to achieve its anticipated
returns.

The Company has approved countries
(per the Investment Charter) which
generally have stable governments.

Regulatory Risk

The risk of not complying with regulatory
requirements, the risk of regulations being
changed or new regulations being
introduced in some way affecting the
viability of SACREIL’s investments.

Advice is obtained from appropriate
experts in respect of the regions in which
SACREIL has invested.

Execution Risk

The risk of not acquiring assets as a result
of being unable to conclude due diligences
in a timeous manner.

Enforcing strict adherence to timelines by
external advisors and an efficient internal
approval process.

Economic
Environment Risk

The risk that the environment in which an
asset operates significantly changes.

Market intelligence is constantly obtained
and considered by the Advisor.
Assets are actively managed through local
property managers.

The impact of changes in policies and
practices are reviewed with the group’s
attorneys as they occur.

REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY
The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that fairly present the statement of affairs of
the Company. The Company’s audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards, the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 (as
amended) and other relevant laws and regulations.
During the course of the audit for the year under review, the ARMC has discussed with the external auditors on
significant accounting policies.
Dividend policy
SACREIL’s dividend policy is set out in its constitution. A quantity termed Available Cash is computed as the
profit earned, for the dividend period under consideration, less profits resulting from the revaluation of the
underlying investment properties (adjusted for any deferred tax implications of those revaluations), in that
period. In terms of the constitution, at least 90% of Available Cash must be paid as a dividend to the Class A and
Class B shareholders. The Board will declare dividends based on the requirements of the constitution and
Investment Charter, and always subject to the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 (as amended).
Whistleblowing Policy
The Board has not adopted a whistleblowing policy. Any reasonable suspicion of fraud shall be reported to the
Money Laundering Reporting Officer of the Company. The Board will consider the implementation of a
whistleblowing policy should the circumstances or the business model of the Company change.
Anti-Money Laundering/Combatting the Financing of Terrorism (“AML/CFT”) Policies and Procedures
Manual (the “Manual”)
The Board has adopted the Manual on 2 February 2021. This Manual has been designed to assist the Company,
its principals and consultants to:
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meet the minimum AML/CFT standards as laid down in AML Legislations;
prevent money laundering;
combat terrorist financing;
establish good governance practices; and
ensure that the affairs of the Company are managed effectively.

It also reflects the commitment of the Company to adhere to international initiatives to prevent money laundering
and combat terrorist financing. The Company has also conducted a business risk assessment principally related
to AML/CFT risks and a client risk assessment on its shareholders.
Others
The Company recognises the importance of being a responsible corporate citizen and operating in a socially
responsible manner. In so doing, the Company takes into consideration the economic, environmental, ethical,
social, and health factors affecting the communities in which it operates. The Company has taken all measures to
reduce any negative social and environmental impact of its operations. Further, the Board is committed to ethical
behaviour in all of its transactions.
AUDIT
External Auditors
Ernst & Young had served as independent auditor of the Company for seven years and resigned from office on 17
February 2021 in accordance with section 41A of the Financial Reporting Act 2004. KPMG has been appointed as
the new independent auditor of the Company for the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020. With regard to external audit, the ARMC is responsible for, inter-alia:
•
•
•
•

reviewing the auditors’ letter of engagement;
reviewing the terms, nature and scope of the audit; and its approach;
ensuring that no unjustified restrictions or limitations have been placed on its scope;
assessing the effectiveness of the audit process.

The external auditors have direct access to the Committee should they wish to discuss any matters privately. During
the financial year 2020, the external auditors contacted the members of the Audit and Risk Committee outside the
presence of management.
Internal Auditors
The Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board annually considers the need for the appointment
of an internal auditor. It has deemed that, in view of the Company’s business, this function was not currently
necessary. Internal audit work would be carried out by external audit firms on an ad hoc basis should the ARMC
consider it necessary.
RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS
SACREIL group of Companies has several stakeholders including the government and regulatory authorities in
Mauritius and the countries where it has its properties, its lenders, partners and tenants among others. The
Company’s main stakeholder remains its shareholders and it is committed to enhance shareholder value for their
benefit.
The shareholders of the Company are the key stakeholders and the Company regularly engages with the latter
and other stakeholders through the publication of its announcements, at the annual general meeting and by
holding meetings.
The annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company will be held no later than 9 months after the balance
sheet date to adopt the annual report including the financial statements.
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The Company has a website, whereby the policies and documents required by the Code have been made available
to the public.
Shareholders may write to the Company Secretary to request governance documents such as Code of Ethics and
other Company policies that have been approved by the Board. The Board will also consider the merits of such
written requests by other stakeholders.
Holding structure
Various companies in the Sanlam Limited (“Sanlam”) group of companies hold shares in SACREIL which, in
aggregate, comprised 59.66% of the shares of SACREIL as at 31 December 2020. Accordingly, Sanlam is currently the
ultimate holding company of SACREIL. The list of the Company’s substantial shareholders holding more than 5% of
the Company is shown below:
Register of substantial shareholders as at 31 December 2020
Name of Shareholder

Address of Shareholder

Sanlam Africa Real
Estate Advisor (Pty)
Limited

Building 2, 11 Alice Lane,
Sandton, Johannesburg, 2196,
South Africa

Sanlam Life Insurance
Limited

No. of class A No. of class % Shareholding
shares held B shares held
-

2,000,000

10.73%

c/o HSBC CNC, 5th Floor,
HSBC Centre, 18 Cybercity,
Ebene, Mauritius

3,693,870

-

19.82%

Sentinel Retirement
Fund

MPF House, 1 Sunnyside Drive,
Sunnyside Park, , Johannesburg,
2107, South Africa

3,694,469

-

19.82%

Agulhas Nominees
(Pty) Limited for
Sanlam Private
Investments (Pty)
Limited

55 Willie Van Schoor Avenue,
Bellville, 7530, South Africa

2,833,850

-

15.21%

Botswana Insurance
Fund Management
Limited

Plot 50676, Fairgrounds, Private
Bag Br 185, Gaborone, Botswana

1,847,234

-

9.91%

Old Mutual
Investment Group (Sa)
(Pty) Limited

Mutual Park, Jan Smuts Drive,
Pinelands, Parktown, 7405,
South Africa

1,847,234

-

9.91%

Bnym SA/NV A/C
Peregrine Nominees
(Pty) Limited

c/o HSBC DCC, 6th Floor,
HSBC Centre, 18 Cybercity,
Ebene, Mauritius

1,104,219

-

5.93%

Issued Share Capital: 18,636,509
The Directors do not hold shares in the Company.
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Share price information and dialogue with shareholders
The Company regularly engages with its shareholders and stakeholders through the publication of its
announcements, at the annual meeting and by holding meetings with them.
One of the most important shareholders' related events of the year is the Annual Meeting. This meeting allows the
Board of Directors to communicate up-to-date information on the activities of the Company to the shareholders.
The shareholders are therefore encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting and seize the opportunity to discuss with
the Directors.
The external auditors also attend the Annual Meeting and are available to respond to queries which the shareholders
may have with regard to their scope of work.
The next Annual Meeting will be held in September 2021.
Significant matters considered by the ARMC
The following significant issues were assessed by the ARMC:
Significant matter

ARMC Considerations
Risk of increased vacancies – Lease rates have had to be adjusted
downwards on renewals in line with changing market conditions to be
able to retain tenants and still cover operating costs.

Income Risk

Relocation of government offices – Due to the relocation of government
offices from Dar es Salaam to Dodoma, landlords are forced to lower their
rentals.
Oversupply of new commercial properties – Due to the oversupply of
new commercial properties in the last few years, has pushed the landlords
to lower their rental fees.

Taxation Risk

Transfer pricing risk challenges affecting prior periods have been raised
by the revenue authorities in the countries of operation. Tax experts and
attorneys have been engaged to advise SACREIL and its subsidiaries to
address these matters and respond accordingly.

Financing / Refinancing Risk

Refinancing risk – the Company needed to inject equity in Lousol
Properties Mauritius as part of the refinancing for Lousol Properties
Limited.

Valuation pressures

The impact of COVID-19 on rentals and lower prevalent market rates on
the discounted cash flow valuations of the properties were considered. The
Advisor and the ARMC sought advice from valuation experts to ensure
that the assumptions and valuations were reasonable.

Sovereign Risk

In the year 2001, the Land Act was amended in Tanzania to prohibit
foreign ownership of land via the certificate of occupancy. Since then,
foreign nationals and companies majority held by foreigners cannot have a
Right of Occupancy or Derivative Right unless they have a Certificate of
Incentives issued by the Tanzania Investment Centre.

Website
The documents mentioned in this report will be made available on the website of the Company
(http://www.sacreil.com ).
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STATUTORY DISCLOSURES
The Company is incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance
with the Companies Act 2001 (as amended). The Company was converted to a Category 1 Global Business on 29
March 2013 and was converted to a public company on 8 April 2013. Its registered office address is at Level 3,
Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius.
The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd since 16 May 2013 and operates as a closed-ended
fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select sub-Saharan
African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar-based income yield and longer term
capital growth.
The directors of the Company were as follows as at 31 December 2020:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Anil Carrim Currimjee
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Keith Robert Jefferis
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe
Jacobus Petrus Möller

Directorship of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020
Amani Place Properties Limited
•
•
•
•

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Kesaven Moothoosamy
Michael Paul Williams

Lousol Properties Mauritius
•
•
•
•

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Kesaven Moothoosamy
Michael Paul Williams

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited
•
•
•
•

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Kesaven Moothoosamy
Michael Paul Williams

Interests in the shares of the Company
The directors do not have any interest in the shares of the Company for the reporting period (2019: Nil).
Directors’ services contracts
The Directors do not have any service contract with the Company for the reporting period (2019: Nil).
Donations
The Company and its subsidiaries did not make any donations in the year under review (2019: Nil).
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Major transaction
The Company did not enter into any major transaction during the year under review.
Directors’ remuneration for the Company as at 31 December
Name of Director

2020 (USD)

2019 (USD)

-

24,000

Anil Carrim Currimjee

20,000

20,000

Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula

16,000

4,755

Keith Robert Jefferis

28,000

31,000

Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe

16,000

16,000

Wong Sun Thiong Tchang Fa

24,000

26,000

104,000

121,755

Jacobus Petrus Moller

TOTAL

Auditors’ remuneration for the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December
Audit Fees paid to KPMG (External
auditors)
SACREIL

Audit Fees paid to EY (External
auditors)

USD
2020

2019

41,000

-

USD
2020

2019

-

20,100

Amani Place Properties Limited

5,500

4,950

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited

4,700

4,650

Lousol Properties Mauritius

5,300

4,750

SACREIL

29.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
CERTIFICATE FROM THE SECRETARY
UNDER SECTION 166 (D) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2001

30.

We certify, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (‘’the
Company’’) has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of the Company under
Section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

............................................................
Intercontinental Trust Limited
COMPANY SECRETARY
Date: 13 August 2021
Level 3
Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebene 72201
MAURITIUS
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KPMG
KPMG Centre
31, Cybercity
Ebène
Mauritius
Telephone +230 406 9999
Telefax +230 406 9988
BRN No. F07000189
Website www.kpmg.mu
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate
Investments Limited (the Company), which comprise the statement of financial position
at 31 December 2020 and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders and statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 37 to 78.
In our opinion, these financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited at 31 December 2020, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the
requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act and the Financial Reporting Act.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key audit matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
KPMG, a Mauritian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.
Document classification: KPMG Confidential

32.
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Key audit matter (continued)
Valuation of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to Note 2.2, Note 3, and Note 4 to the financial statements
Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The accounting policy of the
Company is to measure its
investments as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).

The fair value of the investment properties in the
underlying in-country entities have already been
subject to statutory audit for the year ended 31
December 2020 in accordance with IFRS.

At 31 December 2020, the
Company had FVTPL investments
amounting to USD 62,116,427.
The investments are in unquoted
entities, which operates in the real
estate sector and are categorised
as Level 3 in terms of the fair value
hierarchy. These financial assets
make up 97% of the total assets of
the Company.

We have engaged with the local auditors and
reviewed their workpapers.
From our review, the procedures carried out by the
in-country auditors, included:
•

We understood how management determines
the fair value of the investments by evaluating
the design and implementation of the controls
over the valuation process.

The fair value of unquoted equity •
investments is determined as its
proportion of the investee's net
asset value (NAV), adjusted for the
deferred tax liability in the
underlying country of investments.
The NAV of the underlying
investee companies is mainly •
driven by the fair value of the
investment properties which is
determined using the Discounted
Cash Flow (DCF) valuation
methodology.

We evaluated the key unobservable inputs for
DCF such as discount rates and growth rates
(including rental income escalation) by
benchmarking the parameters used against
available market data and company metrics.

Key unobservable inputs to the
DCF valuation model are discount
rates, growth rates and future cash
flows.
Due to the significant level of
judgement
and
estimation
exercised in the valuation of the
Level
3
FVTPL
unquoted
investments, we determined this to
be a key audit matter in our audit
of the financial statements.

We evaluated the valuation methodology and
assumptions used in the forecast with the
assistance of our corporate finance specialists
by assessing the reasonableness of the
forecasts and benchmarking the assumptions
used against available market data.

•

We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying calculations used in the valuation
models.

•

We assessed the reliability of management’s
forecasts and growth rates used by comparing
prior year forecasts against actual performance
in the current year.

•

We assessed the competence, independence
and integrity of the third-party valuer by looking
at the professional qualifications and
performing the relevant background searches.

33.
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Key audit matter (continued)
Valuation of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to Note 2.2, Note 3, and Note 4 to the financial statements
Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit
The Company has used the valuation report of a
third-party valuer for the Ghana Mall to carry out the
valuation of the in-country investment properties.
Our procedures included the following:
•

We assessed the competence, independence
and integrity of the third-party valuer by looking
at the professional qualifications and
performing the relevant background searches.

•

We evaluated the valuation methodology and
assumptions used in the forecast with the
assistance of our corporate finance specialists
in performing the following:

•

We compared the valuation report used incountry and the third-party valuation report
used by the Company and assessing and
evaluating the gaps in assumptions and
estimates in the reports

•

We assessed the reasonableness of the
forecasts and benchmarking the assumptions
used against available market data.

•

We evaluated the key unobservable inputs for
DCF such as discount rates and growth rates
(including rental income escalation) by
benchmarking the parameters used against
available market data and company metrics.

We evaluated the adequacy of the financial
statement disclosures in accordance with IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement (IFRS 13) and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments (IFRS 7).
Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to Note 24 to the financial statements which indicates that the
comparative information presented as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 has
been restated. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

34.
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Other matter
The financial statements of the Company at and for the year then ended 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 (from which the statement of financial position as at 1
January 2019 has been derived), excluding the adjustments described in Note 24 to the
financial statements were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those financial statements on 27 August 2020.
As part of our audit of the financial statements as at and for the year then ended 31
December 2020, we audited the adjustments described in Note 24 that were applied to
restate the comparative information presented as at and for the year then ended 31
December 2019 and the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019.
We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the financial
statements for the year then ended 31 December 2019 or 31 December 2018 (not
presented herein) or to the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019, other
than with respect to the adjustments described in Note 24 to the financial statements.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the Corporate Information, Commentary of the Directors, Corporate Governance Report
and the Certificate from the Secretary, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report,
and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in
compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act and Financial
Reporting Act, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company's shareholders as a body, in accordance with
Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Company’s shareholders as a body, those matters that we are
required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Mauritius Companies Act
We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as
auditors
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it
appears from our examination of those records.
Financial Reporting Act
Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act is to report on the compliance with
the Code of Corporate Governance disclosed in the annual report and assess the
explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. From our
assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual report, the
Company has, pursuant to section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act, complied with the
requirements of the Code.

KPMG
Ebene, Mauritius
Date: 13 August 2021

Désiré LAN CHEONG WAH, FCA
Licensed by FRC
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At
31 December
2020
USD

Restated
At
31 December
2019
USD

Restated
At
01 January
2019
USD

ASSETS
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss *
Loan receivable

4
5

62,116,427
429,412

78,112,046
429,412

95,168,067
3,829,412

Cash and cash equivalents

6

658,250

7,477,636

4,881,150

7(i)

765,255

401,207

375,003

63,969,344

86,420,301

104,253,632

(292,149)
(99,135)

(344,177)
(78,333)

(363,035)
(75,815)

(391,284)

(422,510)

(438,850)

63,578,060

85,997,791

103,814,782

56,754,976
6,822,984
100

76,768,694
9,228,997
100

92,673,622
11,141,060
100

63,578,060

85,997,791

103,814,782

Other receivables and prepayments
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Advisory fees payable
Other payables and accruals

8
9

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

Net assets attributable to:
- Class A
- Class B
- Class C
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

10
10
10

* Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss has been restated during the year. Refer to Note 24
for details.
These financial statements have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 August
2021 and signed on its behalf by:

………………………………………….
DIRECTOR

………………………………………….
DIRECTOR

The notes on pages 41 to 78 form an integral part of these financial statements.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
Notes
INCOME
Interest income
Dividend income
EXPENSES
Accounting fees
Advisory fees
Audit fees
Bank charges
Directors fees
Disbursements
Licence fees
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss *
Other expenses
Professional fees
Receivable written off

5
11

8
12
4
13
7(ii)

OPERATING LOSS
Finance Costs
Distribution to shareholders

14

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

15

DECREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS FROM OPERATIONS

38.
Restated
2019
USD

2020
USD
-

93,824
890,000
983,824

(56,280)
(1,216,582)
(46,000)
(4,503)
(106,840)
(1,345)
(20,237)
(20,881,192)
(2,640)
(64,112)
(20,000)
(22,419,731)

(56,280)
(1,406,793)
(23,460)
(5,097)
(122,547)
(1,627)
(21,483)
(17,056,021)
(19,857)
(67,650)
(20,000)
(18,800,815)

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

-

-

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

-

-

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

* Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has been restated during the year. Refer to Note 24
for details.

The notes on pages 41 to 78 form an integral part of these financial statements.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
Notes

Net assets attributable to
Class A
Class B
Class C
USD
USD
USD

39.
Total
USD

At 1 January 2019
As previously reported
Effect of prior year adjustments
As restated

24

Decrease in net assets attributable to
shareholders from operations
At 31 December 2019

17

87,504,769
5,168,853
92,673,622

10,519,670
621,390
11,141,060

100
100

98,024,539
5,790,243
103,814,782

(15,904,928)
76,768,694

(1,912,063)
9,228,997

100

16,636,409

2,000,000

100

USD 4.6145

USD 4.6145

USD 1

73,020,286
3,748,408
76,768,694

8,778,371
450,626
9,228,997

100
100

81,798,757
4,199,034
85,997,791

(20,013,718)
56,754,976

(2,406,013)
6,822,984

100

(22,419,731)
63,578,060

Number of shares in issue

16,636,409

2,000,000

100

Net Asset Value per share

USD 3.4115

USD 3.4115

USD 1

Number of shares in issue
Net Asset Value per share *

At 1 January 2020
As previously reported
Effect of prior year adjustments
As restated
Decrease in net assets attributable to
shareholders from operations
At 31 December 2020

24

17

(17,816,991)
85,997,791

* Net Asset Value (NAV) per share has been restated during the year. Refer to Note 24 for details and impact on
the NAV.

The notes on pages 41 to 78 form an integral part of these financial statements.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Decrease in net assets attributable to shareholders from
operations
Adjustments for:
Decrease in financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Dividend income
Interest income
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Decrease in advisory fees payable
Increase/(decrease) in other payables

40.
2020
USD

Restated
2019
USD

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

4

20,881,192
-

17,056,021
(890,000)
(93,824)

7(i)/(ii)
8
9

(364,048)
(52,028)
20,802

(26,204)
(18,858)
2,518

Cash used in operations
Dividend income
Interest income

(1,933,813)
-

(1,787,338)
890,000
93,824

Net cash used in operating activities

(1,933,813)

(803,514)

(4,885,573)

3,400,000
-

Net cash flows (used in)/ generated from investing activities

(4,885,573)

3,400,000

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(6,819,386)
7,477,636

2,596,486
4,881,150

658,250

7,477,636

Cash flows from investing activities
Loan repayment received
Investment in equity shares

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

5

6

The notes on pages 41 to 78 form an integral part of these financial statements.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41.

LEGAL FORM AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the "Company") was incorporated in the Republic of
Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001. The
Company was converted to a Category 1 Global Business on the 29 March 2013 and was converted to a
public company on the 08 April 2013. Its registered office is Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene,
72201, Mauritius.
The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as from 16 May 2013 and operates as a closedended fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select
Sub Saharan African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar-based income
yield and longer-term capital growth.

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements of the Company comply with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Financial Reporting Act 2004.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the Board of Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 3.
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.
The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest USD.

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i)

Recognition and initial measurement
The Company initially recognizes regular-way transactions in financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) on the trade date, which is the date on which the Company becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised on the date on which they are originated.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement
Classification of financial assets
On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
-

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”).

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at FVTPL.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)
Business model assessment
In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the
Company considers all of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:
-

-

the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes
whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any
related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed;
how the investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales
and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.
The Company has determined that it has two business models.
-

Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers and
receivables from reverse sale and repurchase agreements. These financial assets are held to collect
contractual cash flow.
Other business model: this includes debt securities, equity investments, investments in unlisted openended investment funds, unlisted private equities and derivatives. These financial assets are managed
and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI profit or loss
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the contractual terms of
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making
this assessment, the Company considers:
-

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
leverage features;
prepayment and extension features;
terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features);
and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

For a reconciliation of line items in the statement of financial position to the categories of financial
instruments, as defined by IFRS 9, see Note 18.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company were to
change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets would
be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets at
FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend income and expense and foreign exchange
gains and losses, are recognised in profit or loss in ‘net income from financial
instruments at FVTPL in the statement of comprehensive income.
Debt securities, equity investments, investments in unlisted open-ended
investment funds, unlisted private equities and derivative financial instruments
are included in this category.

Financial assets at
amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest income is recognised in ‘interest income calculated using
the effective interest method’, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
‘net foreign exchange loss’ and impairment is recognised in ‘impairment losses on
financial instruments’ in the statement of comprehensive income. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
Cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers and receivables from
reverse sale and repurchase agreements are included in this category.

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.
A financial liability is at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains or losses,
including any interest, are recognised in profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
(EIR). Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL:
-

Held for trading: securities sold short and derivative financial instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- This includes balances due to brokers, payables under sale and repurchase agreements and redeemable
shares.
(iii)

Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most
advantageous market to which the Company has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its
non-performance risk.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
When available, the Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The
Company measures instruments quoted in an active market at a mid-price, because this price provides a
reasonable approximation of the exit price.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses valuation techniques that maximise
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.
The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

(iv)

Amortised cost measurement
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

(v)

Impairment
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:
- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than
30 days past due.
The Company considers an instrument to be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the
Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
The Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of the counterparty
is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Company considers this to
be Baa3 or higher or BBB- or higher.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
(v)

Impairment (Continued)
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months).
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Company is exposed to credit risk.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are creditimpaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

(vi)

Derecognition
The Company derecognises regular-way sales of financial assets using trade date accounting. A financial
asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or the Company
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of
the financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
(vi)

Derecognition (Continued)
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset that is derecognised) and the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a
separate asset or liability.
The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a
portion of them. If all or substantially all of the risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets
are not derecognised. Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all of the risks and rewards
include sale and repurchase transactions.
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit
or loss.
The Company derecognises a derivative only when it meets the derecognition criteria for both financial
assets and financial liabilities. Where the payment or receipt of variation margin represents settlement of
a derivative, the derivative, or the settled portion, is derecognised.

(vii) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at FVTPL
and foreign exchange gains and losses.
(viii) Specific instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks and highly liquid financial assets with maturities
of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
their fair value and are used by the Company in the management of short-term commitments, other than
cash collateral provided in respect of derivatives and securities borrowing transactions.
Receivables and payables under sale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed
When the Company purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the
same or a substantially similar asset at a fixed price on a future date (reverse sale and repurchase
agreement), the arrangement is recognised in the statement of financial position as a receivable from a
reverse sale and repurchase agreement, and the underlying asset is not recognised in the Company’s
financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

(viii) Specific instruments (Continued)
Receivables and payables under sale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed (Continued)
When the Company sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase the
same or a similar asset at a fixed price on a future date (sale and repurchase agreement), the arrangement
is accounted for as a borrowing and is recognised in the statement of financial position as a payable under
a sale and repurchase agreement, and the underlying asset is reclassified in the Company’s statement of
financial position to pledged financial assets at FVTPL.
Securities borrowed by the Company are not recognised in the statement of financial position. If the
Company subsequently sells the borrowed securities, then the arrangement is accounted for as a short sold
position, recognised in the statement of financial position as a financial liability at FVTPL, classified as
held-for-trading and measured at FVTPL. Cash collateral for borrowed securities is included within
balances due from brokers.
Receivables from reverse sale and repurchase agreements and payables under sale and repurchase
agreements are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Redeemable shares
The redeemable shares are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost and are measured at the
present value of the redemption amounts.
b) Foreign currency translations
Functional and presentation currency
The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in USD for the benefit of
its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly USD
denominated. The Company's performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore the Board of Directors
considers USD as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional and presentation currency is the
USD.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as part of the ‘net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:
ci)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all
interest-bearing financial instruments using the EIR method. The EIR is 5% annually.
cii)

Dividend income

Dividend income on equity securities at FVTPL is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the
payment is established.
d) Expense recognition
All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.
e) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the
Company expects some or all provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
f)

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the
Company operates and generates taxable income.
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the
statement of profit or loss. The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

g) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

g) Deferred tax (Continued)
-

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
-

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

-

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

h) Net assets attributable to shareholders
Unrealised gains and losses are included in the net assets attributable to shareholders and are distributable
as follows:
Class A shareholders
The Company’s Constitution provides that a minimum dividend of 90% of Available Cash (as that term is
defined in the Company’s Constitution) must be declared as dividends, but does not specify a maximum
dividend, subject to the solvency and liquidity provisions of the Companies Act.
Class B shareholders – Additional Dividend
In addition to the pro-rata Class A dividend, the Class B Shares confer the right to receive an Additional
Dividend should certain hurdle target returns for the Company be exceeded. At a high level, to the extent
the Company’s return exceeds 10% but is below 15%, the Additional Dividend is 15% of the excess, and to
the extent the Company’s return exceeds 15%, the Additional Dividend is 20% of the excess. In order for
the Additional Dividend to be ultimately declared, the Company’s Net Asset Value in the following year
must be no less than 10% higher as compared to the previous year’s Net Asset Value.
Distributions to shareholders are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as finance costs. Distributions to shareholders are subject to the solvency requirements of the
Companies Act 2001.
Please see Note 10 to the financial statements for further details.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In the current year, the Company has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations
issued by the IASB that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2020. Their
adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial
statements.
Conceptual Framework amendments: Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards
The IASB decided to revise the Conceptual Framework because certain important issues were not covered
and certain guidance was unclear or out of date. The revised Conceptual Framework, issued by the IASB
in March 2018, includes:

•
•
•
•
•

a new chapter on measurement;
guidance on reporting financial performance;
improved definitions of an asset and a liability, and guidance supporting these definitions;
updated recognition criteria for assets and liabilities; and
clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting.

The IASB also updated references to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards by issuing a separate
accompanying document, Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards,
which outlines the consequential amendments made to affected IFRS standards. This was done to support
transition to the revised Conceptual Framework for companies that develop and apply accounting policies
using the Conceptual Framework when no IFRS standard or interpretation applies to a particular
transaction.
The revised Conceptual Framework will form the basis of new IFRS standards set by the IASB as well as
future amendments to existing IFRS standards.
These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company.
Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business
Defining a business is important because the financial reporting requirements for the acquisition of a
business are different from the requirements for the purchase of a group of assets that does not constitute
a business. The proposed amendments are intended to provide entities with clearer application guidance
to help distinguish between a business and a group of assets when applying IFRS 3.
The amendments:

•

Confirm that a business must include inputs and a process, and clarified that: (i) the process must be
substantive and (ii) the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to creating outputs.

•

Narrow the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs on goods and services
provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on providing dividends
or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs; and

•

Add a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than
a business, if the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group
of similar assets.

These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company but may impact future
periods should they enter into any business combinations.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material
The IASB refined its definition of material to make it easier to understand. It is now aligned across IFRS
Standards and the Conceptual Framework.
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.”
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
the primary users. The Board has also removed the definition of material omissions or misstatements from
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any future
impact to the Company - the refinements are not intended to alter the concept of materiality.
Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest
rate benchmark reform. They provide targeted relief for financial instruments qualifying for hedge
accounting in the lead up to of interbank offered rates (IBOR) reform.
A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount
of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument.
These amendments have no impact on the financial statements of the Company as it does not have any
interest rate hedge relationships.

2.4

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the following new
and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:
Date

Standard/Interpretation
Amendment to IFRS 3
Business Combinations
Amendments to IFRS 1
and IFRS 9
Amendment to IAS 1

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards (2018 – 2020)
Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current

issued

Effective date Period

by IASB

beginning on or after

May 2020

1 January 2022

May 2020

1 January 2022

January 2020

1 January 2023
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STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual Framework
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendment has:

•

updated IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework;

•

added to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of IAS 37 or
IFRIC 21, an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 (instead of the Conceptual Framework) to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination and;

•

added to IFRS 3 an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize contingent assets acquired in
a business combination.

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is
permitted if an entity also applies all other updated references (published together with the updated
Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier.
The Board is still assessing the impact of the amendment to the financial statement of the Company.
Amendments to IFRS 1 and IFRS 9: Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS as follows:
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial
Reporting Standards

The amendment permits a subsidiary (as a first-time adopter of IFRS
that applies IFRS later than its parent) that applies IFRS 1.D16(a) to
measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported
by its parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRSs.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of performing the ‘’10 per
cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities – in determining those
fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier
application permitted.
The Board is still assessing the impact of the amendment to the financial statement of the Company.
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when they do not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the
reporting period. As part of its amendments, the Board has removed the requirement for a right to be
unconditional and instead, now requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance and exist at
the end of the reporting period.
There is limited guidance on how to determine whether a right has substance and the assessment may
require management to exercise interpretive judgement.
The existing requirement to ignore management’s intentions or expectations for settling a liability when
determining its classification is unchanged.
The amendments are to be applied retrospectively from the effective date.
The Board is still assessing the impact of the amendment to the financial statement of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the Board of Directors to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Judgements
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Board of Directors has made the
following judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

(i)

Assessment as investment entity
IFRS 10 Investment Entities requires entities that meet the definition of an investment entity to apply the
exception from consolidation and equity accounting, and instead account for its investments in subsidiaries
and joint venture at fair value through profit or loss. The Company undertook an assessment and
concluded that it is an investment entity as follows:
The Company currently has four investments and intends to make additional investments to grow its asset
base; the investments are predominantly be in the form of equities. The Company has several investors
since its listing. The Company has been deemed to meet the definition of an investment entity per IFRS 10
as the following conditions exist:
a)

The Company’s private placement memorandum (PPM) details its objective of providing investment
management services to investors;

b)

The Company’s business purpose, which was communicated directly to investors through its PPM, is
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income; and

c)

The performance of investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company
reports to its investors on a quarterly basis as per the Stock Exchange of Mauritius listing rules and to
its management, via internal management reports, on a fair value basis. The Company has an exit
strategy for all its investments.

The Board of Directors has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change.
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. The
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible but, where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (refer to note 4 for fair value
disclosure).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(i)

Taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing
and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies (refer to Note 12 for tax
note disclosure).

(ii)

Expected credit losses
The ECL model applies to debt instruments accounted for at amortised cost or at FVOCI, most loan
commitments, financial guarantee contracts, contract assets under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and lease receivables under IAS 17 Leases or IFRS 16 Leases. Entities are generally required to
recognise 12-month ECL on initial recognition (or when the commitment or guarantee was entered into)
and thereafter as long as there is no significant deterioration in credit risk. However, if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an individual or collective basis, then entities are required to recognise
lifetime ECL. For trade receivables, a simplified approach may be applied whereby the lifetime ECL are
always recognised.
Amount receivable from related parties
An analysis was made in order to quantify the current impairments recognized and carrying value of loans
at the level of Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”) and Lousol Properties Limited (“LPL”) amounting
to USD 429,412 (2019: USD 429,412) and USD 749,206 (USD 2019: USD 384,793). The Company has
concluded that no ECL is to be recognised as it is immaterial and there has been no anticipated default or
history of default on the amount receivables. However, during the year, the Company has written off
receivables amounting to USD 20,000 (2019: USD 20,000) owed by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited. This
assessment has been undertaken through examining the financial position of the related party.
Financial guarantee
SACREIL is the Guarantor to support Lousol Properties Mauritius (‘LPM’) and Lousol Properties Limited
(‘LPL’) for the repayment of the USD 10,000,000 loan from Standard Chartered Bank Mauritius Limited as
amended effective 6 November 2020. The Company has assessed the fair value of the assets of LPL, net of
LPL’s third party debt to determine the consideration which the Company would be required to pay, and
concluded that no ECL is required on the USD 10,000,000 loan and related guarantee.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
As at 31 December 2020, the following financial instruments were carried at fair value on a recurring basis
in the statement of financial position:
2020
2020
USD

At 1 January
As previously reported
Effect of prior year adjustment (Note 24) *
As restated
Additions
Change in fair value through profit or loss
At 31 December

Level 1
USD

73,913,012
4,199,034
78,112,046
4,885,573
(20,881,192)
62,116,427

Level 2
USD
-

Level 3
USD

-

73,913,012
4,199,034
78,112,046
4,885,573
(20,881,192)
62,116,427

* Refer to Note 24 for details.
Name of investee
company
Accra Mall
(Mauritius) Limited
Amani Place
Properties Limited
Amani Place
Properties Limited
Lousol Properties
Mauritius
Lousol Properties
Mauritius
Sacreil Oddlot
Holdings Limited

Country of
incorporation

Nature of
activity

Number and
type of shares

%
Holding

Fair Value
(USD)

Mauritius

Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding

172,501
Ordinary shares
1,000
Ordinary shares
Loan

50%

27,993,176

100%

21,003,577

-

1,432,064

4,885,573
Ordinary shares
Loan

100%

4,885,573

-

6,802,037

100
Ordinary shares

100%

Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius

62,116,427

2019 Restated

At 1 January
As previously reported
Effect of prior year adjustment (Note 24) *
As restated
Change in fair value through profit or loss
At 31 December
* Refer to Note 24 for details

2019
USD
89,377,824
5,790,243
95,168,067
(17,056,021)
78,112,046

Level 1
USD
-

Level 2
USD

Level 3
USD
-

89,377,824
5,790,243
95,168,067
(17,056,021)
78,112,046
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
2019 Restated (Continued)
Name of investee
company

Country of
incorporation

Nature of
activity

Number and
type of shares

%
Holding

Mauritius

Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding
Investment
holding

172,501
Ordinary shares
1,000
Ordinary shares
Loan

50%

34,925,406

100%

28,783,743

-

1,432,064

1,000
Ordinary shares
Loan

-

-

-

12,970,833

100
Ordinary shares

100%

Accra Mall
(Mauritius) Limited
Amani Place
Properties Limited
Amani Place
Properties Limited
Lousol Properties
Mauritius
Lousol Properties
Mauritius
Sacreil Oddlot
Holdings Limited

Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius
Mauritius

Fair Value
(USD)

78,112,046

Fair value hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation on technique:
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
Transfers between levels
There was no transfer between fair value hierarchies during the year (2019: no transfer).
Valuation techniques
Unlisted equity investments
The Company invests in companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such
investments do not occur on a regular basis. The Company uses a market based valuation technique for
these positions.
Valuation process for Level 3 valuations
The fair value of unquoted investments held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the
investee company’s shareholder equity or net asset value, adjusted for the deferred tax liability in the
underlying country of investments. In terms of the Company’s Constitution, the Board of Directors has
appointed independent external valuers to fair value the investment properties held by the underlying
investee companies. The valuers are provided with the necessary financial information of the underlying
assets in order to carry out the independent valuations.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Valuation process for Level 3 valuations (Continued)
The fair value of investment properties is determined based on the discounted cash flow method of
valuation by discounting the expected future net rental income for a specified period at an appropriate
discount rate (or total rate of return) to give the present value (PV) of the expected net income cash flow.
To this figure as applicable final discounted residual or reversionary value is added.
The fair value of properties derived from the valuation process is then used by the investee accordingly, to
reflect the fair value of the investment properties. The independent valuation process is performed at a
minimum on an annual basis.
On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors monitors the performance of the Company’s investments.
Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (“AMML”)
The Company has a 50% holding in AMML, a jointly controlled entity incorporated in Mauritius. The other
50% holding is held by AttAfrica Limited. AMML is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Ghana,
namely, Accra Mall Limited, which holds an investment property called Accra Mall with an area of 21,381
square meters.
Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts
of their liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the
proportionate share of the deferred tax liabilities of Accra Mall Limited.
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is
valued by an independent external valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at
appropriate capitalization and discount rates (or total rate of return) to the present value (PV) of the
expected total income cash flow.
In 2020, the carrying amount of AMML was USD 27,993,176 (2019: USD 34,925,406).
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were
to each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in AMML would be as follows:
2020
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

12.5%
13%
13.5%

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
8.5%
9.5%
9%
USD
USD
USD
30,495,844
29,327,056
28,281,297
29,111,265
27,993,176
26,992,780
27,784,878
26,715,078
25,757,889

11.25%
11.75%
12.25%

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
7.25%
8.25%
7.75%
USD
USD
USD
38,343,629
36,583,040
35,035,856
34,925,406
36,608,789
33,446,070
34,948,562
33,338,678
31,923,932

2019 Restated
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

Summarised financial information of the joint venture based on IFRS financial statements and
reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the financial statements are set out below:

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
4.

58.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (“AMML”) (Continued)
Consolidated statement of financial information of AMML
2020
USD
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity – Attributable to minority interest (approximately 6%)
– Attributable to AMML (approximately 94%)

5,315,816
118,439,004
(50,022,925)
(24,743,776)
(3,690,905)
45,297,214

2020
USD

2019
USD
2,814,432
120,581,308
(48,288,453)
(25,331,716)
(3,721,183)
46,054,388

Restated
2019
USD

Proportion of ownership in AMML
Share of the equity in AMML
Adjustment for deferred tax
Adjustment in valuation

50%
22,648,607
11,622,059
(6,277,490)

50%
23,027,194
11,898,212
-

Fair value of investment

27,993,176

34,925,406

.

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Accra Mall (Mauritius)
Limited
2020
2019
USD
USD
Income
Expenses

7,373,629
(7,930,678)

(1,757,985)
(6,769,423)

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

(557,049)
(175,551)

(8,527,408)
1,450,584

Loss for the year
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods
Total comprehensive loss
Non-controlling interest (approximately 6%)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to AMML

(732,600)

(7,076,824)

(732,600)
(24,574)
(757,174)

(7,076,824)
339,287
(6,737,537)

2020
USD
Proportion of ownership in AMML
Share of comprehensive income
Dividend received
Adjustment for deferred tax for the year ended
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment in AMML
Further change in fair value on investment through profit or loss

50%
(378,587)
(276,154)
(654,741)
(6,277,490)
(6,932,231)

Restated
2019
USD
50%
(3,368,768)
(890,000)
(1,285,224)
(5,543,992)
(5,543,992)
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (“AMML”) (Continued)
The joint venture had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”)
APPL is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Tanzania, namely Capital Properties Limited (“CPL”),
which holds investment properties. APPL holds 4,999,999 shares out of the issued 5 million shares in CPL,
which is incorporated in Tanzania and domiciled in Tanzania as a limited liability private company whose
shares are not publicly traded. The principal activity of CPL is investment in commercial property.
Currently, CPL owns three buildings called FNB House, Amani Place and Barclays House measuring
21,062 square meters in aggregate and the related parking silo. All buildings are located in Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania.
Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts
of their liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the
deferred tax liabilities of CPL.
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is
valued by an independent external valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at
appropriate reversionary capitalisation and discount rates (or total rate of return) to the PV of the expected
total income cash flow.
In 2020, the carrying amount of APPL was USD 22,435,641 (2019: USD 30,215,807).
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or future capitalisation rate were to
each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in APPL would change as follows:
2020
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

12.25%
12.75%
13.25%

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
9%
10%
9.5%
USD
USD
USD
24,366,303
23,493,550
22,704,167
22,435,641
23,270,454
21,680,573
22,220,430
21,421,750
20,699,364

11.50%
12.00%
12.50%

8.75%
USD
32,878,041
31,409,523
30,003,657

2019 Restated
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
9.75%
9.25%
USD
USD
31,629,702
30,503,431
30,215,807
29,138,818
28,861,947
27,831,878
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Lousol Properties Mauritius and Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited
LPM and SOHL are investment vehicles holding a subsidiary in Nigeria namely Lousol Properties Limited
(“LPL”), which in turn holds an investment property.
LPM and SOHL hold 163,899,836 shares and 164 shares respectively in LPL, which is incorporated in
Nigeria and domiciled in Nigeria as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly
traded. The principal activity of LPL is investment in real estate. Currently, LPL owns one building called
Atlantic House with an area of 4,271 square meters. The building is located in Victoria Island, Lagos,
Nigeria.
The carrying amount of SOHL as at 31 December 2020 was USD Nil (2019: USD Nil) as the company is
loss-making.
Both the investee companies and LPL value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their
liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the deferred tax
liabilities of LPL.
The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is
valued by an independent external valuer with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a
discounted cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net
annual income for the period of ten years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at
appropriate capitalization and discount rates (or total rate of return) to arrive at the PV of the expected
income.
In 2020, the carrying amount of LPM was USD 11,687,610 (2019: 12,970,833).
There are no other significant assumptions used by the Company in valuing the Level 3 instruments for
which a reasonably possible change thereto would have a significant impact on the fair value of such
instruments.
Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were
to each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in LPM would be as follows:
2020
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

12.50%
13.00%
13.50%

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
9.50%
10.50%
10.00%
USD
USD
USD
12,843,969
12,339,771
11,881,808
12,169,937
11,687,610
11,249,511
11,523,845
11,062,349
10,643,172

11.50%
12.00%
12.50%

9.50%
USD
14,491,360
13,612,874
12,771,649

2019 Restated
Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate

Reversionary Capitalisation rate
10.50%
10.00%
USD
USD
13,819,939
13,210,238
12,970,833
12,387,810
12,157,579
11,599,956
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LOAN RECEIVABLE
Loan due from related parties

Amani Place Properties Limited

2020
USD
429,412

2019
USD
429,412

The interest-bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of 10%. The terms of the loan is that it is
repayable on demand by the borrower when called upon by the lender.
However, during the year ended December 2019, a 2-year interest holiday (effective as from 01 July 2019)
was approved by the Board of the company.
During the year ended December 2020, no repayment of the interest-bearing loan was made to the
Company (2019: USD 3,400,000).
Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to USD Nil (2019: USD 93,824)
using EIR. At 31 December 2020, interest receivable on the loan was USD Nil (2019: USD Nil).
6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and cash equivalents which are short term,
highly liquid investments.
2020
2019
USD
USD
Balances with banks

7(i).

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Receivable from Lousol Properties Mauritius (Note 6)
Prepayments

658,250
2020
USD
749,206
16,049
765,255

7,477,636
2019
USD
384,793
16,414
401,207

The amount receivables from the related party are unsecured, interest free and receivable on demand.
7(ii).

RECEIVABLE WRITTEN OFF
During the year, an amount of USD 20,000 (2019: USD 20,000) due from Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited
was written off.

8.

ADVISORY FEES
Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company and Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor
Proprietary Limited (the “Advisor”), the Company is required to pay annual advisory fees of 1% on the
aggregate of the Company’s underlying property asset values to the Advisor.
The advisory fees incurred for 2020 were USD 1,216,582 (2019: USD 1,406,793) and USD 292,149 (2019:
USD 344,177) was payable at 31 December 2020.
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

62.
2020
USD

Professional fees payable
Accounting fees payable
Directors fees payable
Audit fees
Other payables

2019
USD

3,780
21,655
31,550
40,250
1,900
99,135

6,220
27,905
18,306
23,115
2,787
78,333

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.
10.

CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES
The following classes of shares were in issue at 31 December 2020:
•
•
•

Class A – 16,636,409 shares
Class B – 2,000,000 shares
Class C – 100 shares

Class A
Class A shares are redeemable participating shares, listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and are held by
various investors. Class A shares confer upon the holders thereof the following rights, obligations and restrictions:
1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;
2. Each Class A share represents one vote;
3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and the
Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius;
4.

If the Gross Asset Value of the Company is less than USD 750 million on the Company Reference Date (being 31
December 2020), then each Class A Shareholder will have the right to elect to have their shareholding repurchased
by the Company. There is no receivable recognised at year end because the terms per clause 10 of the Company’s
constitution have not yet been met;

5.

Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company.
Class B
Class B shares are redeemable participating shares and shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company or
by the Company. Class B shares confer upon the holders thereof the following rights:
1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;
2. Class B shares have at all times voting rights not less than 10% of the aggregate voting rights of all the shares on all
matters except those matters solely affecting the Class A shares;
3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and the
Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius;

As per the Company’s Constitution, the holder of the Class B shares has the right to an additional dividend
subject to certain conditions being met. There was no additional dividend reserve for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
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CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES (CONTINUED)
Class B (Continued)
The Net Assets Attributable to the Class B shareholder are made up as follows:
2020

Restated
2019
USD

USD
Other Net Assets

6,822,984

9,228,997

4.

The Class B shares shall be redeemable at the option of the Company in the circumstances which entitle
the Company (acting on the instructions of Class A Shareholders) to terminate the Advisory Agreement
and have the obligation to acquire those shares. Should the Advisor terminate the Advisory Agreement,
the Company or replacement Advisor would be obliged to acquire the Class B Shares.

5.

Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company.

Class C
Class C Shares are categorised as a liability instrument because of the contractual obligation contained in
the advisory agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the holder of the Class C Shares.
Class C shares shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company.
1. Class C shares do not participate in any distributions;
2. Class C shares are non-voting;
3. Class C Shares are only redeemable if the advisory agreement is terminated and should be issued to the
replacement Advisor.
4. On winding up, the Class C shareholder will be only entitled to the subscription price thereof.
The Class A and B shares are measured at their NAV based on the Company’s Constitution, being that the
company is only able to redeem the shares at their share of the NAV. Class C shares is entitled to only its
par value at time of liquidation. The fair value measurement is therefore considered a level 3 recurring
valuation.
Refer to the statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders for net asset per share.
11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
During the year under review, the Company had the following transactions and balances with related parties:
a) Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited
(Shareholder and Advisor)
Advisory fees payable (Note 8)
Advisory fees for the year (Note 8)

2020
USD

2019
USD

292,149

344,177

1,216,582

1,406,793

The above advisory fees relate to the day to day administration of the Company outsourced to the Advisor,
an indirect subsidiary of Sanlam Limited, in terms of the Advisory Agreement.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
b) Joint venture - Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited

2020
USD

Dividend income
c)

Subsidiary – Amani Place Properties Limited
Loan receivable at 31 December

2019
USD
-

890,000
2019
USD

2020
USD
429,412

429,412

-

93,824

Interest income for the year
Refer to Note 5 for term and conditions of loans and advances.
d) Subsidiary – Lousol Properties Mauritius
Other receivable at 31 December

2020
USD
749,206

2019
USD
384,793

Refer to Note 7(i) for terms and conditions of loans and advances. Other receivable relates to expenses paid
on behalf of the subsidiary. The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and receivable on demand.
e) Administrator – Intercontinental Trust Limited (ITL)
Payable to ITL at 31 December
ITL fees for the year

2020
USD

2019
USD

27,335

36,912

106,776

110,640

Key management personnel
Jacobus Petrus Möller and Keith Robert Jefferis resigned as director of the Company on 09 February 2020 and
31 December 2020 respectively.
Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe has a financial interest in Sanlam Limited which is a shareholder
of the Company’s Advisor.
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula is the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director of the Company's Advisor.
Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin is a director of Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company’s Administrator and
Company Secretary.
All transactions were entered into in the normal course of business. The Company does not have any
employees and the day to day administration of the Company is outsourced to the Administrator and the
Advisor in terms of the Administration Services and Advisory Agreements respectively.
Directors remuneration
Directors fees for the year
Directors fees payable at 31 December

2020
USD

2019
USD

107,440

122,547

32,150

18,306

The key management personnel did not receive any short-term benefits, post-employment benefits,
termination benefits, share-based payments or any other long-term benefits during the year. (2019: Nil)
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has written off receivables amounting to USD 20,000
(2019: USD 20,000) owed by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited, a related party. This assessment is undertaken
each financial year through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which
the related parties operate.

12.

DIRECTORS FEES
Pursuant to the Directors Service Agreement and the Audit & Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”)
Service Agreement between the Company and the Directors, Directors are entitled to directors’ fees for their
attendance at various meetings plus a quarterly retainer and reimbursement for expenses as agreed. Total
Directors’ fees incurred for the year ended 31 December 2020 were USD 106,840 (2019: USD 122,547) with
and USD 31,550 (2019: USD 18,306) was payable at 31 December 2020.

13.

PROFESSIONAL FEES

Professional fees
Insurance fees
Secretarial and registry fees

14.

2020
USD
19,683
14,962
29,467
64,112

2019
USD
23,350
14,917
29,383
67,650

DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividend distribution to Class A and Class B shareholders are presented as finance costs. Class C shares do
not participate in any distribution as disclosed in Note 10.
SACREIL cannot distribute a dividend for the 2020 financial year due to failing the solvency test. Therefore,
the dividend for 2020 is USD nil per share (2019: USD Nil per share).

15.

TAXATION
The Company holds a Category 1 Global Business License for the purpose of the Financial Services Act 2007
of Mauritius. Pursuant to the enactment of the Finance Act 2018, with effect as from 1 January 2019, the
deemed tax credit has been phased out, through the implementation of a new tax regime.
Companies which had obtained their Category 1 Global Business Licence on or before 16 October 2017,
including the Company, have been grandfathered and would benefit from the deemed tax credit regime up
to 30 June 2021.
Accordingly, the Company is entitled to a foreign tax credit equivalent to the higher of the actual foreign tax
suffered or 80% of the Mauritian tax (“Deemed tax credit”) on its foreign source income resulting in an
effective tax rate on net income of up to 3%, up to 30 June 2021. Further, the Company is exempted from
income tax in Mauritius on profits or gains arising from sale of securities. In addition, there is no withholding
tax payable in Mauritius in respect of payments of dividends to Shareholders or in respect of redemptions
or exchanges of shares.
Post 30 June 2021, under the new tax regime and subject to meeting the necessary substance requirements
as required under the Financial Services Act 2007 (as amended by the Finance Act 2018) and such guidelines
issued by the FSC, the Company is entitled to either (a) a foreign tax credit equivalent to the actual foreign
tax suffered on its foreign income against the Company’s tax liability computed at 15% on such income, or
(b) a partial exemption of 80% of some of the income derived, including but not limited to foreign source
dividends or interest income.
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TAXATION (CONTINUED)
The Company monitors proposed and issued tax laws, regulations and cases to determine the impact on
uncertain tax positions.
A reconciliation between the applicable income tax rate of 15% and the effective income tax rate is as
follows:

Applicable income tax rate
Impact of:
Non tax deductible expenses1
Exempt income
Unrecognised tax losses
Actual income tax rate
1

2020
%
15.00

Restated
2019
%
15.00

(13.98)
(1.02)

0.75
(15.69)
(0.06)

-

-

Non tax deductible expenses consist mainly of distribution to shareholders and the net losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

At 31 December 2020, the Company had accumulated tax losses of USD 3,091,456 (2019: USD 3,145,743).
The tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profit. Below is a summary of the available tax
losses to the Company:
Tax losses for the year
31 December 2015
31 December 2016
31 December 2018
31 December 2019
31 December 2020

Tax losses

Expiry date

USD
1,572,827
31 December 2020
1,492,372
31 December 2021
9,881
31 December 2023
70,663
31 December 2024
1,518,539
31 December 2025
Accumulated tax losses at 31 December

2020
USD

Tax losses

1,492,372
9,881
70,663
1,518,539
3,091,455

2019
USD
1,572,827
1,492,372
9,881
70,663
3,145,743

The foregoing is based on current interpretation and practice and is subject to any future changes in
Mauritian tax laws.
Deferred tax
A deferred tax asset of USD 92,744 (2019: USD 94,372) has not been recognised in respect of the tax loss
carried forward as the Board of Directors considers that it is not probable with enough certainty that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
16.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Company is organised into one main operating segment, which invests in
equity securities. All significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Company as one
segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company
as a whole.
The Company only holds investments in companies incorporated in Mauritius. Income or losses shown in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are derived from these companies.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The following table analyses the Company’s income per investment type:

Net (loss)/ gain on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss:
- Joint venture
- Subsidiaries
Interest income
- Subsidiaries
Dividend income
- Joint venture
Total
17.

2020
USD

Restated
2019
USD

(6,932,231)
(13,948,961)

(5,543,990)
(11,512,031)

-

93,824

(20,881,192)

890,000
(16,072,197)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE PER SHARE
Change in net assets attributable per share is calculated for Class A and Class B separately to take into
consideration any additional dividend to which the Class B shareholder is entitled to.
The change in net assets attributable per share is calculated as follows:
Class A - By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class A from operations plus any adjustment as
disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to shareholders by the number of Class A
shares in issue at year end.
Class B – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class B from operations, adjusted to add back
the additional dividend and any adjustment as disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable
to shareholders, by the number of Class B shares in issue at year end.

Decrease in net assets attributable to Class A from operations
As previously reported
Effects of prior year adjustments
Change in net assets attributable to Class A

2020
USD

Restated
2019
USD

(20,013,718)
(20,013,718)

(14,484,483)
(1,420,445)
(15,904,928)

Number of Class A shares at 31 December
Change in net assets attributable to Class A per share

16,636,409
(1.2030)

16,636,409
(0.9560)

Decrease in net assets attributable to Class B from operations
As previously reported
Effects of prior year adjustments
Change in net assets attributable to Class B

(2,406,013)
(2,406,013)

(1,741,299)
(170,764)
(1,912,063)

2,000,000
(1.2030)

2,000,000
(0.9560)

Number of Class B shares at 31 December
Change in net assets attributable to Class B per share
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FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is
inherent in the Company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring of risks, subject to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk
management is critical to the Company’s continuing profitability.
Risk management structure
The Board of Directors of the Company has set up an Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) to
assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to:
The safeguarding of the Company’s assets;
The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls;
The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;
The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the External Auditors of the Company;
The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; and
An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the
Company’s Advisor; and
• An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and
investee companies.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Risk measurement and reporting system
The ARMC will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying
reports to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding
the Company’s results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval
by, the Board of Directors. Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on
limits established by the Board of Directors. These limits reflect the business strategy including the risk that
the Company is willing to accept and the market environment of the Company. In addition, the Company
monitors and measures the overall risk in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and
activities.
New Transaction Approval
As per the Company’s Constitution, the Company also has an investment committee (“IC”). The IC assesses
the risk/return profile of proposed investments before recommendation to the Board of Directors. All new
transactions need to be recommended by the IC before being considered by the Board of Directors for final
approval.
The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.
Financial risk factors
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk
and interest rate risk), property income and valuation risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Company's financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying investee
companies are predominantly denominated in USD which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Company is therefore not materially exposed to any foreign currency risk and has also not been impacted
severely by the currency fluctuations being brought by the pandemic Covid-19.
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FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
However, within the investee companies, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying
investments as these may, in some cases, derive income in the respective local currencies of the countries
in which they operate. This income is indexed to the USD. Fair value changes to the Company will therefore
be dependent on changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments, which impact expected
future USD net annual income.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk primarily results
from exposure to the volatility of interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is on the
interest-bearing loan advanced to Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”) of USD 429,412 (2019: USD
429,412). The interest rate is variable. However, during the year 2019 a 2-year interest holiday (effective as
from 01 July 2019) was approved, therefore the Company’s loss before tax will not be affected to changes
in interest rates.
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that
portion of loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s loss before
tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:
Year

Loss before tax
USD

2020

(22,419,731)

2019 Restated

(17,816,991)

Interest Rate
Increase/(decrease)
in basis points
+25
-25
+25
-25

Effect on
(loss)/profit
before tax
USD

-

Credit risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or contract, leading to a financial loss.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was:

Cash at bank
Loan receivable
Other receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial guarantee (Note 20)
TOTAL

2020
USD

2019
USD

658,250
429,412
749,206
8,234,101
-

7,477,636
429,412
384,793
14,133,103
14,885,573

10,070,969

37,310,517
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FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)
There is no significant credit risk associated with the cash at bank since the Company maintains bank
accounts with large financial institutions. The Company’s main banker is Absa Bank (Mauritius) Limited
which is a subsidiary of the ABSA Group (long term credit rating by Moody's in 2019: Ba1). As such, the
directors believe exposure to credit risk to be minimal. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. Within the investee
companies, there is exposure to credit risk in the form of tenants in the underlying investment properties
not being able to meet their lease obligations. This risk is mitigated through having quality investment
properties that are readily lettable and actively managing delinquent tenants. The other financial assets
have not been rated by rating agencies.
The loans and receivables, except for the receivable from SOHL of USD 20,000 (2019: USD 20,000), are
neither past due nor impaired for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
Refer to Note 7 for the impairment provisions made during the year ended 31 December 2020.
Property income and valuation risk
Property income risk is the risk of not being able to maintain the level of net income associated with a
building typically due to increased costs or vacancies and the risk that tenant affordability in country is
impacted due to depreciation of the local currency.
Long term contracts are entered into as far as possible for leases. Property management fees are based on
a percentage of collections and leases concluded/renewed. Costs are controlled and measured against an
approved budget.
Property valuations are dependent upon assumptions relating to, inter alia, discount rates and
reversionary capitalisation rates. Sensitivities to these variables are provided in Note 4.
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities as the result of changes
in the value of individual shares. The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of uncertainties
about future prices of the investments held at fair value through profit or loss. The world-wide outbreak
of the COVID-19 virus may have a significant negative impact on the liquidity of the company. To manage
its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Company targets underlying real estate
assets with demonstrated and sustainable income streams with little or no development risk. However,
rental concessions granted to tenants, as a result of their financial distress due to the economic impact of
Covid-19, will result in deviations in the property valuations of the rental properties, which will have a
direct impact of the Fair Value of the assets consolidated into the company and thus increasing the equity
risk.
If the prices of the securities held by the Company at 31 December 2020 increased/decreased by 5% with
all other variables held constant, this would have increased/decreased total net assets attributable to
shareholders by approximately USD 3,105,821 (2019 Restated: USD 3,911,678).
Refer to Note 4 for additional information on the equity price risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.
There was no facility in 2020 (2019: Nil). The Company is currently considering alternative sources of
financing. Liquidity risk is managed by having adequate facilities or by having cash on hand.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December
based on contractual undiscounted payments:
No stated
maturity
USD

At 31 December 2020
Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Advisory fees payable
Net assets attributable to shareholders

63,578,060
63,578,060
No stated
maturity
USD

At 31 December 2019, restated
Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Advisory fees payable
Net assets attributable to shareholders

85,997,791
85,997,791

Up to 3
months
USD

Total
USD

99,135
292,149
391,284
Up to 3
months
USD

99,135
292,149
63,578,060
63,969,344

Total
USD

78,333
344,177
422,510

78,333
344,177
85,997,791
86,420,301

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period
in which the guarantee could be called.

At 31 December 2020

No stated
maturity
USD

Financial guarantee

At 31 December 2019
Financial guarantee

3-12
months
USD
-

No stated
maturity
USD

1-3 years
USD

3-12
months
USD
-

14,885,573

Total
USD
-

1-3 years
USD

-

Total
USD
-

14,885,573
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FINANCIAL RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Capital risk management
The Company’s capital at the year-end is represented by the total net asset values of the Class A, B and C
shares. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital. The Company actively manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
Pursuant to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Listing Rules, the Company is required to have a minimum
market capitalisation of 20 million Mauritian rupees (approximately USD 550,000). The market capitalisation
of the Company at 31 December 2020 was USD 41,745,656 (2019: USD 52,182,225).
Fair values
Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values due to the short term maturities of these financial instruments.
Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost1
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2020
USD

Restated
2019
USD

1,836,868
62,116,427

8,291,841
78,112,046

63,953,295

86,403,887

391,284
63,577,960

422,510
85,997,691

63,969,244

86,420,201

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost2
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

1

2

19.

Financial assets at amortised cost include: Cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, other receivables
from related parties. Prepayments of USD 16,049 (2019: USD 16,414) have been excluded from financial
assets.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include: advisory fees payable, other payables and
accrued expenses.

IMPACT OF COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect countries and businesses at the time of issuing these financial
statements. The risks arising from this pandemic include market, services and supply chain disruptions,
increased credit risk, unavailability of key people resources, locations being quarantined, among others.
The impact of COVID-19 has been significant, affecting the underlying investments’ ability to increase tenant
rentals, increasing pressure on the valuation of the investment properties, and thus the net assets attributable
to the Company; and increasing the risk of cash distributions from the investments. Strategies have been
implemented to assist tenants through rental discounts, to monitor cash flows and manage rental collections;
and to ensure adequate health and safety protocols.
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GUARANTEE
During the year ended 31 December 2014, Lousol Properties Limited (‘LPL’) entered into a Term Loan Facility
Agreement amounting to USD 25.25 million with Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria Limited (‘SCB Nigeria’),
with a final repayment date of 2 December 2019. SACREIL acted as guarantor to support the funding
requirements of LPL for the repayment of the loan. The original terms entered into stipulated that in the event
of default by LPL, SACREIL undertakes to provide financial support to LPL to repay any outstanding debt
amount using either an equity injection or a shareholder loan.
During the year under review, an Amended and Restatement Agreement was executed between the relevant
parties who are allowed to accede to the Amended and Restatement Agreement. Per the amended terms,
Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) Limited advanced a new tranche of USD 10,000,000 into LPM, while
the Company subscribed for additional shares in LPM for a subscription amount of USD 4,885,573. The
aggregate amount was utilised to settle the outstanding balance of the SCB Nigeria loan. Concomitantly, a
Deed of Guarantee has been executed where SACREIL continues to acts as guarantor to the terms of the
Amended and Restatement Agreement for USD 10,000,000.

21.

GOING CONCERN
The directors made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern taking into account
all available information about the future including the analysis of the possible impacts in relation to COVID
-19, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the approval of the audited financial statement
and these can be analyse as follows:
The Company has made a loss after tax of USD 22,419,731 (2019: USD 17,816,991) for the year ended 31
December 2020 mainly due to the change in fair value of investments through profit or loss of USD 20,881,192
(2019: USD 17,056,021) as the investments were significantly impaired due to the impact of COVID-19 on
their valuations.
The directors have taken the following into account when assessing the going concern of the Company:
-

-

Subsequent to year end:
o the loan receivable amounting to USD 429,212 have been settled in May 2021,
o The Company received dividend income from the underlying investments amounting to USD
USD 700,000.
Quarterly dividend income is expected to resume as the cash collections continue to improve from the
underlying investments.

After taking into account the points above, management has prepared cashflow forecasts to 2022 which
indicate that the Company will generate positive cashflows in the future.
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to going concern.
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets
and settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of business.
22.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
a) On 21 April 2021, Rajkamal Tapossea was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on the
SACREIL board and to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE (CONTINUED)
b) Despite the ongoing COVID-19 crisis, the Company’s investments have been able to generate sufficient
cash resources to :
- Settle the Loan receivable of USD 429,412 in May 2021
- Distribute dividends to shareholders, including the Company in July 2021
- LPL has generated excess cash from its operations to reduce the loan balance outstanding, for
which the Company stands as guarantor per Note 20.
Management has therefore, concluded that the COVID-19 crisis will not have a significant impact
on the Company’s ability to generate cash from its investments. Accordingly, the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. This basis presumes that funds will be
available to finance future operations and that the realization of assets and liabilities will occur in
the ordinary course of business.

23.

FINANCIAL SUPPORT
The Company has signified its intention to provide its financial support to its Mauritian subsidiaries as
and when required in order for them to meet their financial obligations as they fall due. Refer to Note 20.

24.

EFFECT OF PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS
(a) Correction of errors
During the year 2020, the Company acknowledged that for the investments at fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL) whose fair values have been arrived at based on the Net Asset Value (NAV), all deferred tax
liabilities in all the underlying investments had to be added back to the NAV in the determination of the
fair value. As a consequence, FVTPL investments and net assets attributable to shareholders have been
understated. The errors have been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statements line items
for prior periods.
The adjustment did not have any impact on the Statement of cash flows, tax or deferred taxation.
The effect of the restatements are summarised as follows:
Statement of financial position
As at 01 January 2019
Notes

ASSETS
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Accumulated losses/(retained income)

4

As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

Restated
balance
USD

89,377,824

5,790,243

95,168,067

2,036,730

(5,790,243)

(3,753,513)
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EFFECT OF PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Correction of errors (Continued)
Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2019

Notes
ASSETS
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss

4

Accumulated losses

As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

Restated
balance
USD

73,913,012

4,199,034

78,112,046

(18,262,512)

4,199,034

(14,063,478)

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2019
As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

(15,464,812)

(1,591,209)

(17,056,021)

LOSS BEFORE TAX

(16,225,782)

(1,591,209)

(17,816,991)

DECREASE IN NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
FROM OPERATIONS

(16,225,782)

(1,591,209)

(17,816,991)

Notes
Net loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

4

Restated
2019
USD

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders
As at 01 January 2019

Notes

As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

Restated
balance
USD

Net assets attributable to
Class A

10

87,504,769

5,168,853

92,673,622

Class B

10

10,519,670

621,390

11,141,060

Class C

10

100

-

100

98,024,539

5,790,243

103,814,782

Total
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76.

EFFECT OF PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Correction of errors (Continued)
Statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders
As at 31 December 2019

Notes

As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

Restated
balance
USD

Net assets attributable to
Class A

10

73,020,286

3,748,408

76,768,694

Class B

10

8,778,371

450,626

9,228,997

Class C

10

100

-

100

81,798,757

4,199,034

85,997,791

Total

The adjustment did not have any impact of the Statement of cash flows, tax or deferred tax.
The impact on Net Asset Value per share (NAV) is to increase NAV by USD 0.2253 from USD 4.3892 to
USD 4.6145 per share for the financial year 2019. (2018: increase by USD 0.3107 cents from USD 5.2598 to
USD 5.5705 per share).
(b) Reclassification error
In prior year, investment income, namely dividend and interest income, was incorrectly included under
cash flows from investing activities instead of cash flows from operating activities. The Statement of cash
flows in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was consequentially restated with
retrospective effect in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
The adjustment did not have any impact on the Net assets attributable to the shareholders, the Statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and tax or deferred taxation.
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019
As previously
reported
USD

Prior year
adjustment
USD

Restated
balance
USD

(890,000)

890,000

-

(93,824)

93,824

-

(1,787,338)

983,824

(803,514)

890,000

(890,000)

-

93,824

(93,824)

-

4,383,824

(983,824)

3,400,000

Cash flows from operating activities
Adjustment for:
Dividend income
Interest income
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend received
Interest received
Net cash generated from investing
activities

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
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77.

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected
to be recovered or settled.
2020
Within 12
After 12

ASSETS
Balances with banks
Loan receivable
Other receivables and prepayments
Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss

months
USD

months
USD

Total
USD

658,250
429,412
765,255
-

62,116,427

658,250
429,412
765,255
62,116,427

TOTAL ASSETS

1,852,917

62,116,427

63,969,344

LIABILITIES
Advisory fees payable
Other payables and accruals

(292,149)
(99,135)

-

(292,149)
(99,135)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(391,284)

-

(391,284)

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

1,461,633

62,116,427

63,578,060

Restated 2019
Within 12

After 12

months

months

Total

ASSETS

USD

USD

USD

Balances with banks
Loan receivable
Other receivables and prepayments

7,477,636
429,412

7,477,636
429,412

401,207

-

-

78,112,046

78,112,046

TOTAL ASSETS

8,308,255

78,112,046

86,420,301

LIABILITIES
Advisory fees payable
Other payables and accruals

(344,177)
(78,333)

-

(344,177)
(78,333)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(422,510)

-

(422,510)

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

7,885,745

78,112,046

85,997,791

Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss

26.

401,207

PARENT AND ULTIMATE PARENT
The parent is Sanlam Life Insurance Limited and the ultimate parent of the Company is Sanlam Limited, a
company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
THREE YEAR SUMMARY OF PUBLISHED RESULTS AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

78.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
INCOME

Restated
2019
USD

2020
USD

2018**
USD

-

983,824

1,736,982

EXPENSES

(22,419,731)

(18,800,815)

(5,443,305)

OPERATING LOSS

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

(3,706,323)

-

-

(1,118,185)

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

(4,824,508)

-

-

-

(22,419,731)

(17,816,991)

(4,824,508)

At
31 December
Notes
2020
USD

Restated
At
31 December
2019
USD

At
31 December
2018**
USD

63,969,344

86,420,301

98,463,389

(391,284)

(422,510)

(438,850)

63,578,060

85,997,791

98,024,539

56,754,976
6,822,984
100

76,768,694
9,228,997
100

87,504,769
10,519,670
100

63,578,060

85,997,791

98,024,539

Finance Costs
Distribution to shareholders

14

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

15

DECREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS FROM OPERATIONS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

Net assets attributable to:
- Class A
- Class B
- Class C
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

10
10
10

** The figures presented in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2018 exclude the effects of prior year adjustments.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
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Date

Financial year-end

31 December 2020

Publication of abridged results for the year ended
31 December 2020 to SEM

13 August 2021

Publication of abridged results for the year ended
31 December 2020 to Press

18 August 2021

Annual Report posted on

31 August 2021

Notice of Annual General Meeting posted on

31 August 2021

Annual General Meeting

29 September 2021
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Q1 2021
Quarter ends

31 March 2021

Announcement of quarterly results

13 August 2021

Q2 2021
Quarter ends

30 June 2021

Announcement of quarterly results

13 August 2021

Q3 2021
Quarter ends

30 September 2021

Announcement of quarterly results

12 November 2021 (tentative)

YE 2021
Financial year-end

31 December 2021

Publication of abridged results for the year ended
31 December 2020 to SEM

31 March 2022 (tentative)

Publication of abridged results for the year ended
31 December 2020 to Press

31 March 2022 (tentative)

Annual Report posted on

30 May 2022 (tentative)

Notice of Annual General Meeting posted on

30 May 2022 (tentative)

Annual General Meeting

30 June 2022 (tentative)
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Company name

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (Registration
number: C109045C1/GBL)

Registered address

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius

Period end

31 December 2020

Chairman of the Board

Anil Carrim Currimjee

Board of Directors

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin
Anil Carrim Currimjee
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe
Tchang Fa Wong Sun Thiong
Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Jacobus Petrus Möller (resigned on 9 February 2020)
Keith Robert Jefferis (resigned on 31 December 2020)
Rajkamal Taposeea (appointed on 20 April 2021)

Company Secretary and
Administrator

Intercontinental Trust Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Limited

Advisor

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited

Legal Advisors Mauritius

C&A Law

External Auditors

KPMG

SEM Authorised Representative
and Sponsor

Perigeum Capital Limited

SEM Listing Date

16 May 2013

Shares in issue

A Shares – 16,636,409
B Shares – 2,000,000
C Shares – 100

Volume Traded

72,263

Value Traded

USD 202,280.40

Share Price USD

High – USD 2.80
Low – USD 2.24
Closing – USD 2.24

Dividend per share

USD nil

Annual Meeting

29 September 2021

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
ABBREVIATIONS
Advisor

SAREA

AML

Accra Mall Limited

AMML

Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited

APPL

Amani Place Properties Limited

Company

SACREIL

CPL

Capital Properties Limited

GAV

Gross Asset Value

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

IRR

Internal Rate of Return

ITL

Intercontinental Trust Limited

LPL

Lousol Properties Limited

LPM

Lousol Properties Mauritius

NAV

Net Asset Value

PPM

Private Placement Memorandum

SACREIL

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

SANLAM

Sanlam Limited

SAREA

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited

SEM

Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited

SOHL

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited

SSA

Sub-Saharan Africa

USD

United States Dollars
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SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

83.

Shareholder Analysis
SACREIL currently has three classes of issued shares, namely Class A, Class B and Class C shares. The Class B and Class C shares are held by the Advisor, SAREA. The
Class A shares have the right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares, the right to dividends and distributions in
accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and the Act. Each Class A share represents one vote. The Class B shares have similar rights to the Class A shares but
the Class B shareholders are also entitled to an Additional Dividend on the achievement by SACREIL of certain performance hurdles. The Additional Dividend has a
‘claw-back’ feature. The Class C share is the nominal USD100 share and has no rights attached to it, apart from the return of the USD100 in the event of the winding up
of the Company.
Register of substantial shareholders as at 31 December 2020
Name of Shareholder

Address of Shareholder

No. of class A
shares held

No. of class B
shares held

% Shareholding

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor (Pty) Limited

Building 2, 11 Alice Lane, Sandton,
Johannesburg, 2196, South Africa

-

2,000,000

10.73%

Sanlam Life Insurance Limited

c/o HSBC CNC, 5th Floor, HSBC Centre, 18
Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius

3,693,870

-

19.82%

Sentinel Retirement Fund

MPF House, 1 Sunnyside Drive, Sunnyside
Park, , Johannesburg, 2107, South Africa

3,694,469

-

19.82%

Agulhas Nominees (Pty) Limited for Sanlam
Private Investments (Pty) Limited

55 Willie Van Schoor Avenue, Bellville, 7530,
South Africa

2,833,850

-

15.21%

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited

Plot 50676, Fairgrounds, Private Bag Br 185,
Gaborone, Botswana

1,847,234

-

9.91%

Old Mutual Investment Group (Sa) (Pty) Limited

Mutual Park, Jan Smuts Drive, Pinelands,
Parktown, 7405, South Africa

1,847,234

-

9.91%

Bnym SA/NV A/C Peregrine Nominees (Pty)
Limited

c/o HSBC DCC, 6th Floor, HSBC Centre, 18
Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius

1,104,219

-

5.93%

Issued Share Capital: 18,636,509

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited
(the “Company”)
Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius
Registration Number: C109045 C1/GBL
ISIN Code: MU0396S00004
SEDOL Code: B979H90
SEM Code: SARE-N-0101
Short Name: SACREIL

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Sanlam Africa
Core Real Estate Investments Limited will be held on 29 September 2021 at 10.00 Mauritius
Time at c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene
72201, Mauritius.
AGENDA
1. To consider, receive and adopt the 2020 Audited Financial Statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2020, including
1.1 Corporate Governance Report;
1.2 The Directors’ certificate;
1.3 Commentary of the Directors;
1.4 The Secretary’s certificate and
1.5 The Independent Auditors’ report.
2. To re-elect the following directors, each by way of a separate vote, who accordingly retire
and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with section 29.1.4 of the Company’s
Constitution:
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6

Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee
Mr Cyril Wong Sun Thiong
Mrs Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula
Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe
Mr Rajkamal Taposeea
Mr Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin

3. To re-appoint KPMG as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the Company’s
next Annual Meeting.
4. To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration of the Company’s
auditors.

Note:

Ordinary resolutions 1 to 4 will require the support of more than 50% of the total votes
exercisable by members of the Company, present in person or by proxy to pass the
resolutions.
Members entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting may appoint proxies, who
need not be members, to attend and vote on their behalf. Instruments appointing proxy
or any power of attorney should be deposited at the registered office of the Company
at c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene
72201, Mauritius, no later than 24 hours before the meeting, being no later than 10:00
a.m. Mauritius Time, 28 September 2021, failing which the instrument of proxy or the
power of attorney shall not be accepted.
In view of the restrictions placed on large gatherings due to Covid-19, the Company is
providing shareholders with videoconferencing facilities to join the annual meeting.
Shareholders who wish to avail of the videoconferencing facilities are requested to
contact the Company Secretary for the dial-in details by the following means:
Tel: (230) 403 0800
Fax: (230) 403 0801
Email: sacreil@intercontinentaltrust.com

By order of the Board
Date: 31 August 2021

For more information, please contact:
Company Secretary

SEM authorised representative and
sponsor

4

This notice is issued pursuant to SEM Listing Rules 11.3 and 11.16 and Rule 5(1) of the Securities
(Disclosure Obligations of Reporting Issuers) Rules 2007. The Board of Directors of Sanlam Africa Core
Real Estate Investments Limited accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
contained in this Communiqué.

SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS LIMITED
PROXY FORM
The Company Secretary
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201
Mauritius
Dear Sir/Madam,
I/We ________________________________________________ being shareholder(s) of Sanlam Africa
Core Real Estate Investments Limited hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Miss _____________________________
of ____________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her,
the Chairman of the Annual Meeting as my/ our proxy to vote for me/ us at the Annual Meeting of
the Company to be held on 29 September 2021 at 10 00 a.m. Mauritius Time at c/o Intercontinental
Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, and at any
adjournment of the meeting.
Kindly tick the appropriate boxes below:
Agenda

Description

For

Against

Abstention

1

To consider, receive and adopt the 2020 Audited
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2020).

⬜

⬜

⬜

2

To re-elect the following directors, each by way of a
separate vote, who accordingly retire and offer
themselves for re-election in accordance with section
29.1.4 of the Company’s Constitution:
2.1 Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee

⬜

⬜

⬜

2.2 Mr Cyril Wong Sun Thiong

⬜

⬜

⬜

2.3 Mrs Lusanda Zimkitha Jakavula

⬜

⬜

⬜

2.4 Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe

⬜

⬜

⬜

2.5 Mr Rajkamal Taposeea

⬜

⬜

⬜

2.6 Mr Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin

⬜

⬜

⬜

3

To re-appoint KPMG as auditors of the Company until
the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual Meeting.

⬜

⬜

⬜

4

To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the
remuneration of the Company’s auditors.

⬜

⬜

⬜

Consent in terms of Section 327 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001
I/we, a shareholder of the Company, hereby consent to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts,
or any other documents pertaining to the Company at the following email address until such authority
is revoked:
Email Address: ________________________________________________________________
Phone Number: ________________________________________________________________
I/we undertake to advise the Company within 5 days at its registered address of any change in my/our
email address.
This consent may be revoked at any time on the provision of 5 days’ notice in writing to the Company.
Signed this _________ day of ___________________________ 2021
Signed:

___________________________________

Shareholder name:

___________________________________________________________________

Assisted by:

___________________________________________________________________

Notes to the Form of Proxy
1.
A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy of
his/her own choice (whether a member or not) to attend and vote on his/her behalf.
2.
Please mark in the appropriate box how you wish to vote. If no specific direction as to voting is
given, the proxy will exercise his/her discretion as to how he/she votes.
3.
The instrument appointing a proxy or any general power of attorney shall be deposited at the
Registered Office of the Company at c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander
House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, not later than 24 hours before the meeting, failing
which the instrument of proxy or the power of attorney shall not be treated as valid.

